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Oral evidence

Taken before the Home Affairs Committee

on Tuesday 5 January 2010

Members present

Keith Vaz, in the Chair

Tom Brake Gwyn Prosser
Mrs Ann Cryer Bob Russell
David T. C. Davies Mr David Winnick

Witnesses: Ms Isabella Sankey, Policy Director, Liberty, and Ms Dianne Abbott MP, gave evidence.

Q1 Chairman: Good morning; this is our first session
of the New Year. Could I wish everyone a Happy
New Year! This is a new inquiry into the National
DNA Database. Could I refer everybody to the
Register of Members’ Interests. Could I welcome
Dianne Abbott MP and Isabella Sankey from
Liberty. Could I start with you, Ms Abbott. Thank
you for coming to give evidence today to the
Committee. We know of your interest in these issues
and the fact that you recently held an Adjournment
Debate in Westminster Hall about these matters.
Those who are opposed to the current policy
concerning the retention of DNA on the National
Database argue that as far as the over-representation
of black people, especially black youths, on the
Database is concerned this damages community
relations. Do you believe that is the case?
Ms Abbott: Yes, I do. Let me just say three things.
The first thing is, this DNA Database is a major
innovation—it is the largest one in Europe by far—
but we have never had a proper parliamentary
debate on it. What we have done, in a series of
compendium Criminal Justice Bills, is have put
permissive clauses in, and the police have taken
those permissive clauses and driven ahead building
this Database. It is long overdue that we as a
Parliament consider the issue; and that is why I
appreciate the fact that the Committee is having this
very important inquiry. The second thing to say is
that it is very important, in discussing this issue, to
retain a distinction in your mind between guilty
people and innocent people. Nobody queries the fact
that guilty people should have their DNA kept on
the Database for a period of time; this debate is
about what you do about innocent people. In
relation to the eVect on the community, it is very
serious. I have been campaigning with Liberty on
this subject for some time, and last year we held a
special advice clinic to help young people, people
under 16, and innocent people to try and help them
get their DNA oV the Database. I got a tremendous
response, even from people that were not coming to
the clinic. They got back to me to say how glad they
were to hear that Liberty and I were doing this, and
how concerned they were about it. We held the clinic;
Liberty’s lawyers gave advice; I spoke though to all
of the parents that were there—because it was
parents that came with children—and I think it is

one of a whole set of things, like arresting people on
suspicion, which puts a gulf between the police and
the community.

Q2 Chairman: Yes, but do you not agree, the
communities who are aVected by crime—in
particular the ethnic minority communities—surely
would welcome the fact that information is being
retained on the DNA Database, because it would
help the police solve more crimes?
Ms Abbott: It is precisely because I represent a
community both black and white, Muslim and
Christian, which is particularly aVected by crime
that I am particularly concerned about this issue.
The only way you can successfully act against crime
in areas like Hackney is if the police have the
cooperation of the community. I would contend that
the existence of the DNA Database, the fact it has
never properly been debated, the random way DNA
is collected, the diYculties put in the way of innocent
people trying to get their DNA oV the Database,
actually undermines police/community cooperation
and that is a very serious matter. Without that
cooperation we cannot fight crime.

Q3 Chairman: In your joint project with Liberty—
and you mentioned some of these examples during
the debate in Westminster Hall—you came across a
number of individuals who had been trying to get
their DNA removed from the Database. I think you
mentioned in particular a young black woman who
had gone into Primark with a receipt for an item of
clothing that she had already purchased, who was
subsequently arrested and whose DNA remains on
the Database. Could you give us other examples of
the types of people who have been involved in the
project that you and Liberty are jointly conducting?
Ms Abbott: For instance, we had a young man in
Greenwich Park who was having a water-fight—
Greenwich Park is quite a large park—in another
part of the park an assault took place and the police
came and arrested all the young people who had
been in the park. Four days later the police came to
his house and arrested him; he was taken to the
police station; DNA; prints; photographs taken;
interviewed; but no further action was taken. Up
until now they have not been prepared to take his
DNA oV the Database. There was a case you
mentioned: a young woman aged 24 at the time of
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arrest; she went to Primark to return some goods she
had bought the day before; she was wearing a
Primark sweater that she had bought the day before
and mindful of that she brought with her the receipt
for the sweater that she had on. She was still arrested
on suspicion of having stolen the sweater she was
wearing, despite the receipt; arrested; taken to the
police station; DNA; prints; photographs taken. She
was finally released because they looked at the
receipt, but they are still holding on to her DNA.
That sort of thing does not build confidence in the
community.

Q4 Tom Brake: Ms Sankey, could you tell us how
many people, for instance, have had their DNA
retained in spite of the fact they have committed no
oVence? Do you happen to know how many people
have sought to get their DNA removed, and how
many have been successful? Can you give us some
hard facts about what this problem looks like in
terms of scale?
Ms Sankey: I do not have statistics about the
number that have sought to have their DNA
removed, I am afraid; but I do know that in 2007–08
there were a total of 162 profiles deleted from the
Database and that in 2008–09 there were a total of
283 profiles removed. At Liberty we have sought on
several occasions, with many of the people that come
to us, to request removal of DNA for innocent
people and we have found it extremely diYcult; not
least because of the ACPO guidance that is currently
in place, which sets out the Exceptional Case
Procedure for when deletion can happen, which sets
the bar extremely high. Deletions are only really
taking place when it is found (1) that an oVence was
not committed at all for the arrest that was made; or
(2) where the arrest was made unlawfully; or where
the DNA sample was taken unlawfully. We know
that chief constables are instructed to reject the
deletion request when it is first made and only
consider a second request, so the bar is exceptionally
high. We found it very diYcult to achieve deletion,
but we do know that the more publicity and the
higher profile a case is the more likely it is that
deletion will take place.

Q5 Tom Brake: Do you maintain a database of cases
that you have taken up? In other words, can you tell
us how many of the cases that have been raised with
you have been deleted, that the individuals have had
their DNA deleted?
Ms Sankey: Our litigators would have that
information. We are, all the time, asking people to
come forward if they have their DNA on the
Database, are innocent, and wish to have it removed.
We are providing advice and information to those
people and seeking to litigate on their behalf as
things stand with the current retention regime.

Q6 Tom Brake: It might be useful for the Committee
if your litigators were able to provide that
information. In other words, how many people in
the last year, say, have contacted you seeking to have
their DNA removed, and how many have
subsequently been successful in doing that.

Ms Sankey: Absolutely; we can provide that
information.
Ms Abbott: In relation to the size of the problem, the
Committee will be aware that 77% of young black
men under the age of 25 have their DNA on the
Database

Q7 David Davies: You will be aware that only 5–10%
of crimes that are committed end in a conviction, so
is it not likely that a large percentage of those
arrested but not found guilty of an oVence will
nevertheless have actually carried it out?
Ms Sankey: I think it is diYcult to speculate on
people that have not been—

Q8 David Davies: It is not diYcult to speculate that
only 5–10% of all crimes end in a conviction. We
know there has quite rightly been a huge outcry over
the fact that it is about 9% with rape, and that is
actually higher than most other crimes; for burglary
it is about 5%. That is not speculation; that is a fact.
Ms Sankey: There is nothing that suggests that those
innocent people who are on the DNA Database are
any more likely to have committed a crime than
those who are not on it at all.

Q9 David Davies: Somebody who is arrested because
the police believe there is reason to believe they may
have committed a crime is no more likely to have
done so than somebody who has never been arrested
in their life?
Ms Abbott: Can I just make a simple—

Q10 David Davies: No, I am just interested in
Liberty’s answer to this.
Ms Abbott: I am going to allow my Liberty colleague
to speak, but it is very important in this inquiry that
you keep a clear distinction between innocent people
and guilty people because that is the cornerstone of
our criminal justice system.

Q11 David Davies: Is it not also important that we
diVerentiate between those who are not taken to
court, not prosecuted or found guilty of a crime, but
nevertheless may well have committed one? Is it not
important to bear that in mind? Ms Abbott, you
must be aware of the rape cases and outraged
about that?
Ms Sankey: Could I just say, to clarify our position,
we have never said that no innocent person can ever
be retained on the DNA Database. We understand
that in exceptional circumstances you might be able
to frame a DNA retention regime which allows for
retention for a limited period for those who have not
yet been prosecuted, or against whom charges were
brought, prosecution began and was not completed.
We recognise that there are those exceptional cases
where there is a certain amount of suspicion that
remains and it would make sense, it would be
pragmatic, to allow that DNA to be retained.
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Q12 David Davies: So you are not against it in
principle. That is very important; thank you for
clarifying that. You are not, in principle, against it;
it is just the guidance that you want changed for
keeping it for people not found guilty?
Ms Sankey: We want the presumption to be
diVerent. Could I also say that when it comes to your
question that these people might in fact be guilty
although they have not been successfully convicted,
it always remains possible for the police to retake
DNA at the point of arrest. We have never objected
to the idea that the police, when there is reasonable
suspicion or when new evidence comes to light, can
make an arrest and retake somebody’s DNA. The
fact that it is deleted from the Database does not
mean that it will never go back on, or the police can
never obtain it again, it is the idea of retaining
innocent people’s DNA indefinitely that we object
to.

Q13 Bob Russell: Notwithstanding your answers so
far, what are your main objections to the proposals
about retention of DNA in the Crime and Security
Bill?
Ms Sankey: In light of the Crime and Security Bill I
think the first thing to say is that we welcome the fact
the Government has finally recognised that this issue
needs to be addressed in primary legislation, having
dropped, of course, the regulations from the Policing
and Crime Bill last year. Our main objection to the
current proposals in the Bill is the six-year retention
proposal for innocent people. We do not believe the
Government is fully accepting of the principles laid
out in the S and Marper judgment by the European
Court of Human Rights. We think they are
grudgingly doing as little as they think is necessary
to try and comply with that judgment. We do not
believe that a six-year retention period would
comply. I think the Council of Ministers, when they
met last in September, indicated the same, that
proportionality requirements would not be met with
a six-year retention period for innocent people.

Q14 Bob Russell: Six years would be an
improvement on the current situation. If not six
years, what figure would you give, if any?
Ms Sankey: We believe that innocent people as a
matter of principle should have their DNA deleted
once it is decided that prosecution will not go ahead;
and then a fixed period should be put as a cap to
ensure that DNA is deleted after that decision has
been made.

Q15 Bob Russell: So six years is not the objection, the
objection is the retention over any period?
Ms Sankey: Exactly, the principle that you would
automatically retain innocent people’s DNA, rather
than presume that you are going to delete it unless
there are exceptional circumstances.

Q16 Bob Russell: I just want to make it clear: it is not
the six years you are objecting to; it is the principle
of any period?
Ms Sankey: Absolutely.

Q17 Mr Winnick: Ms Abbott, you gave the
impression in the debate—a very interesting debate
(which I must confess I have read for the first time)
in Westminster Hall in which the Chairman of this
Committee also participated—that in your view the
police were wrong to take DNA samples in the first
place.
Ms Abbott: If that is the impression you have had
from reading the debate this morning, I apologise.
Let me make my position clear: first of all, nobody
objects to keeping the DNA of guilty people. The
question is what do you do with the DNA of
innocent people? Everybody, including Liberty,
accepts there are circumstances in which you should
keep the DNA of innocent people. The question is
that those circumstances have never been codified,
and that is partly to do with the fact we have never
had a proper debate in Parliament. I would suggest
to the Committee there are two possibilities: one is
that the courts should be allowed to direct when a
case is concluded; that people have been found
innocent yet nonetheless the court is directing their
DNA should be kept. That would certainly be
acceptable to the people I am working with. The
other option is to say there are certain categories of
crime—violent crime and sexual crime—and in
those cases you would keep the DNA. I am not
saying, nor is Liberty saying, you should never keep
the DNA of innocent people. It should be codified:
either the courts should direct; or you should specify
the types of crimes for which this is kept. Just to
respond to my colleague Bob Russell’s point about
the Government’s proposals: first of all, many
lawyers do not believe that the Government’s
proposals are actually compliant with what the
European Court was saying; but, secondly, the
Government did invite contributions as to what it
should do, and it seems in its proposals to have
completely ignored them. That is not unusual, you
will tell me, but that is one of the reasons one objects
to it.

Q18 Mr Winnick: If I understand you right, Ms
Abbott, and you will correct me obviously if this is
not your position, if someone has been arrested but
not charged with certain oVences of violence and has
been released you would be in favour of a DNA
profile being kept by the police?
Ms Abbott: Yes. I think we should debate it.

Q19 Mr Winnick: Debate it as we like, but at the end
of the day a decision has to be reached. Again, if I
can just pursue the point: someone has been arrested
for some very serious oVence, not charged for all
kinds of reasons, first and foremost presumably
because there is a lack of evidence, but you would
not object to that profile being retained by the
police?
Ms Abbott: I would not want to make law at a select
committee hearing.

Q20 Mr Winnick: You do not want to say yes or no
to that?



Processed: 16-02-2010 17:14:16 Page Layout: COENEW [E] PPSysB Job: 442972 Unit: PAG1

Ev 4 Home Affairs Committee: Evidence

5 January 2010 Ms Isabella Sankey and Ms Dianne Abbott MP

Ms Abbott: I am going to say this: I would support
certain specific circumstances either where the court
directed, or where it involved crimes of violence or
sexuality, where it was codified that DNA would be
kept. What I do not accept is that all innocent
people’s DNA, whatever their age, can be kept
willy-nilly.

Q21 Mr Winnick: Do you accept, Ms Abbott, that
retaining DNA profiles by the police does help at the
end of it all to substantially reduce criminality?
Ms Abbott: That is an interesting point, Mr
Winnick. The problem is, although the police and
other people you will get evidence from later this
morning will give you certain high profile cases
where the DNA of innocent people has enabled them
to solve the crime, there is no conclusive research to
prove that overall keeping the DNA of innocent
people helps you to clear up crime. I would point out
that the inventor, if you like, of the DNA technique,
Sir Alec JeVreys, is vehemently opposed to keeping
the DNA of innocent people; he says it is too
random a weapon.
Chairman: We will in fact be inviting him to come to
give evidence next week on this.

Q22 Tom Brake: Could I just ask, Ms Sankey, you
said there are exceptional circumstances in which
you think the DNA could be retained and is your
position the same as Ms Abbott’s in terms of a court
directing that it should be retained in the case of
violent and sexual crimes or is your position
diVerent?
Ms Sankey: Liberty, in pursuing our campaign on
the DNA Database, has always said we need a much
more proportionate framework for DNA retention.
We have always said in framing the new DNA
retention regime, you could look at a number of
factors. For example, it could be those suspected
oVences where DNA is particularly relevant, like
violent or sexual oVences; it could be if somebody is
suspected of more than one oVence; it could be
where there has been shown to be a propensity to re-
oVend. There are a number of things you could do
to frame the keeping of DNA for a limited period in
certain special circumstances. It would be preferable
if that was laid down as set criteria and it was not left
to be done on a case-by-case basis by a court because
the latter might have the eVect of implying guilt at
least in the mind of the person whom it concerns.
Another possible way of squaring the circle would be
to look to the Scottish system, where it is that if
proceedings have been brought against an individual
you can hold on to their DNA but for a limited
period of time. So those who are arrested and
nothing further is done do not have their DNA
retained, but those against whom a prosecution is
brought but is dropped for whatever reason do have
their DNA retained. These would all be much more
proportionate ways of making sure that the right
people are kept on the Database and the right people
are taken oV.

Q23 Bob Russell: I think the most recent answers we
have had to questions from Mr Winnick and Mr
Brake have caused confusion rather than
clarification as to what should or should not be on
the DNA Database. Ms Abbott, would you be
happy if everyone’s DNA was on the Database?
Ms Abbott: That would have the benefit of being
intellectually coherent, but in practice you would be
talking about a huge, impracticable project. I am
sorry that you are confused. I am saying that if you
are going to keep innocent people’s DNA on the
Database it should be in clear, codified
circumstances. I think that is clear enough.

Q24 Bob Russell: Liberty’s position? Everybody?
Ms Sankey: Absolutely not. As Ms Abbott has said,
a universal database would of course lend itself in
terms of intellectual coherence. It would also do
something to sort out the current discrimination
problem that we have with the way the DNA
Database is constituted, but it would not be
proportionate and it would not be necessary either.
There is also, of course, always the risk that the more
profiles you upload and keep on there the more
likelihood there is of mistakes being made, of bad
matches being made, of the Database being
corrupted and potentially discredited in the courts.
This is something Liberty certainly would not want
to see because we believe in the value of DNA
evidence in securing convictions.

Q25 Bob Russell: With your international
connections, are you aware of any countries where
there is total DNA Database of all its citizens?
Ms Sankey: I am not aware of any such country. I do
know that we have the largest DNA Database in
Europe and the largest DNA Database per capita in
the world.

Q26 Chairman: Both of your positions are that
although you would understand the logic of having a
Database that contained everybody’s names you are
both against having a Database that has the samples
of every single member of the public on it?
Ms Abbott: In principle I can see the logic; in
practice it would be entirely wrong.

Q27 Chairman: That is your position as well, is it,
Ms Sankey?
Ms Sankey: Absolutely. In principle there are things
that lend themselves to that view, but it would be
wholly disproportionate and a complete invasion of
privacy on a scale we have never seen.

Q28 Gwyn Prosser: Ms Sankey, Ms Abbott has made
the point that although there has been quite a lot of
anecdotal evidence about some high profile cases
where a so-called innocent sample has led to
prosecution, especially in rape and murder cases—
and also we have been told there is no in-depth
research being done—do you have a feel or is there
anywhere where we could get access to the number
of cases where the use of DNA has been solely or
largely responsible for bringing people to justice?
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Ms Sankey: That is a very interesting question, and
we do not believe that such a statistic exists. We also
believe that if it did exist it would be negligible
because the statistical test would be (1) that someone
who is innocent has been retained on there (2) that
has led to their conviction for an oVence (3) and no
other evidence could have led the police to them.
That would be the test for whether or not statistically
it makes sense to automatically keep innocent
people on there. We have never been presented with
those statistics. Interestingly, the high profile cases
that you refer to, all of those such cases that have
ever been presented to me, in interviews and
otherwise, have always been cases where it is actually
the taking of somebody’s DNA, ostensibly for
another purpose because they are suspected of
another oVence, that has led the police to see that
they are actually linked to the crime scene of an
earlier oVence. It is not actually the retention of
those people’s DNA but the taking of it. As I said
earlier, we have absolutely no problem with the
taking of DNA on arrest.

Q29 Gwyn Prosser: In your answer, Ms Sankey, you
made the assertion that the results would be
negligible. If the research was done on a rational
basis and the results did show a significant link,
would you then change your views about limiting
and prescribing which records should be kept?
Ms Sankey: Ultimately, decisions about how a DNA
Database is constituted need to come down to two
things: statistics, but principally principles; And the
Government is currently failing to take a principled
approach to DNA retention. In a free society there
are always more things we could do to detect a
couple more crimes, to secure a couple more
convictions, whether it is having curfews for every
man, woman and child, whether it is removing, for
example, the need for reasonable suspicion before
you arrest somebody. There are always more things
that you could do. A universal DNA Database
might be a way of securing a few more convictions,
but you need to come back to this idea of whether it
is proportionate and whether that is the kind of
society in which we want to live. We say, quite
frankly, that automatically retaining the DNA of
innocent individuals—which can of course reveal
things about their ethnicity, their familial links, their
life expectancy, their chance of getting disease—
storing that and stockpiling that, as is currently done
by the State, is not the kind of society we do want to
live in.

Q30 Gwyn Prosser: Ms Abbott, do you concur with
that view?
Ms Abbott: I had a meeting with the oYcer at the
Metropolitan Police who is responsible for these
issues and he told me, certainly within the
Metropolitan Police area, there is no substantive
research which demonstrates a link between keeping
the DNA of innocent people and the ability to clear
up crime. I would point out as well that we have this
sort of catch-all system here in England, very
diVerent from Scotland and very diVerent from other
European countries. There is no evidence at all to

show that our approach to the DNA Database has
impacted on our crime levels relative to countries
which actually have a DNA Database which is more
compliant with the European Human Rights
situation.

Q31 Mr Winnick: Being the devil’s advocate if you
like—that is part of our job obviously on a select
committee, as you know very well, Ms Abbott—I
am just wondering whether you dismissed too lightly
in the Westminster Hall debate when the Minister
gave an example of the retention of DNA. He
mentioned Steve Wright, who was later convicted of
murdering five prostitutes in Ipswich in 2003. His
DNA sample, the Minister said, was taken when he
was arrested on suspicion of theft—not the most
serious oVence—however, later, it matched the
DNA from the body of one of the five women
murdered in Ipswich which all led, fortunately, to
this monster being convicted. We are all very pleased
that such monsters are convicted of the murder of
five innocent women. In those circumstances, I am
just wondering if you did not dismiss the Minister,
because you intervened immediately after him and
said that this was a dramatic matter but what about
other issues. Did you really take seriously the point
the Minister was making at the time?
Ms Abbott: Mr Winnick, I would never dismiss a
Minister. My point is this: you can always point to
individual instances where keeping the DNA of an
innocent person has helped to clear up a crime. What
there is no statistical basis for saying is that keeping
the DNA of innocent people overall helps to bring
down the levels of crime. Quickly, because I know
the Chairman wants to move on, a point I have not
been asked on but I think—

Q32 Mr Winnick: But it helped in the case of Wright,
did it not? He was convicted.
Ms Abbott: In an individual case, Mr Winnick. Show
me the stats which show that it helps overall. The
point I wanted to make very briefly is this issue of
innocent people getting their DNA taken oV the
Database; which brings me back to the first point the
Chairman made to me. Nothing causes more upset
in a community than how diYcult it is for innocent
people—maybe they were bystanders; it is often the
case we have dealt with people who just happen to be
around—and the diYculty and the diVerence
between police districts. If we are going to take a step
forward on this issue there should be a clear,
transparent, codified and uniform system for people
who are undoubtedly innocent, who perhaps have
not committed a crime for very many years, to be
able to get their DNA oV the Database. That would
go a long way to restoring police confidence.
Mr Winnick: It does not feel right, but we
understand that point.

Q33 Tom Brake: Presumably if there is no research
that shows that holding people’s DNA on a
Database is eVective in tackling crime, there is also
no research that shows, for instance, that spending
money on maintaining records of innocent people
and their DNA, and that quite heavy administrative
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process dealing with complaints that come in about
it, is a more eVective way of spending money than,
for instance, investing in training more specialist
police oYcers dealing with rape cases. Is there any
evidence that shows that it has a significant cost-
benefit advantage?
Ms Abbott: There is no evidence that it has a cost-
benefit advantage and there is ample evidence, as I
say, that it undermines community cooperation with
the police, which is vital to fighting crime.

Q34 Mrs Cryer: At the moment an innocent person
wishing to have their DNA record removed from the
National Database apparently has to go through
certain procedures which finish up with the chief
police oYcer of that area, and he can determine
whether or not it is removed. It has been suggested
that this could lead to a certain amount of patchiness
from one area to another, because there are diVerent
chief police oYcers for each area. It has been
suggested that instead of it going as a final court of
appeal to the chief police oYcer, it could go to an
organisation called the National Policing
Improvement Agency. Would either of you prefer
that route to the existing one?
Ms Sankey: We do not believe that the problem with
the current system is down to the fact that the
discretion lies with the chief constables; in fact we
would not want to put any blame at their doors for
the chaos that we are now in with the DNA deletion
system. We think that actually it is because
Parliament has left a vacuum here while saying that
the discretion lies with the chief constables, passing
the responsibility over to them. This vacuum has, of
course, been filled by the ACPO guidance which, as
I said earlier, sets the bar so high for deletion as to
be almost impossible to reach. For us that is the real
problem here.

Q35 Chairman: The point Mrs Cryer is making is
should there be one body, like the NPIA, that should
deal with these requests; and therefore you avoid the
postcode lottery that clearly is in existence? It does
not deal with the issue of discretion; but should there
be one authority that deals with all requests, rather
than 42 chief constables?
Ms Sankey: We have never taken issue with the idea
that the chief constables, as with so much of the
discretion that they have, have a discretion in this
instance; but what we would like to see is much
better guidance set out in statute for how they
exercise their discretion.

Q36 Chairman: But they still retain the discretion
under your system?

Ms Sankey: Of course, accompanied by
requirements to delete innocent people’s DNA as
soon as they have decided not to go ahead with
prosecution, but there needs to be a much, more
robust discretion left to them in legislation, along
with guidance about how they exercise it.
Ms Abbott: Speaking as a constituency MP and
someone who has gone to a lot of trouble mailing
people on various databases who are concerned
about this issue, I would welcome a single consistent
and transparent system for innocent people,
however you deem them to be innocent; maybe they
have not been involved with the police for 10 years
or whatever, a single, consistent national coherent
system for removing your DNA from the Database.
You have just explained to the Committee what the
system is, or what the system is supposed to be in
theory. In practice, I had a case of a 14-year old girl
who happened to be in the back of a car that was
stopped by the police; they were just giving her a lift
home from a party; she was 14 years of age; she was
taken back to a police station with the other older
people, put in a cell and had her DNA taken. She
had no criminal record whatsoever; no-one in the
end was charged as a result of this car being stopped.
It took myself and another MP two years to get her
DNA removed. What the police told us at every
point was they had no choice; they had to keep the
DNA. It is because of dealing with cases like that I
am actually quite keen on a single national
transparent explicit system for getting innocent
people’s DNA oV the database.

Q37 Mrs Cryer: In the case you are talking about,
was it the case that the chief police oYcer said, “No,
we’re not removing it”; or was it that it never got to
him? Was it delays on the route to him?
Ms Abbott: It never got to him. First of all, I wrote
to the local police who said they had not stopped the
car, it was the special patrol group; and then the
special patrol group wrote back to me and said there
was nothing they could do. In fact, they brought the
parents in and told them, “We can do nothing.
Parliament insists we keep all this DNA”. I then
wrote to the Police Minister, who then was Tony
McNulty, who said, “No, no, no. It’s at the
discretion of the chief constable”. It was only at that
point, when I put it to the Minister, that they said it
was at the discretion of the chief constable. It went
back to the Met and they said, “Unless there are
exceptional circumstances, we’re not willing to take
the DNA oV”. I believe with innocent people, who
have no criminal record and so forth, there ought to
be some sort of presumption of taking the DNA oV
rather than the other way around. There should not
be the inconsistency
Chairman: Ms Abbott, Ms Sankey, thank you very
much for giving evidence this morning, it has been
very useful.
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Witnesses: Chief Constable Chris Sims, West Midlands Police, and Lead on Forensics, Association of Chief
Police OYcers, and Mr Gary Pugh, Director of Forensic Services, Metropolitan Police and Chair of the
National ACPO DNA Strategy Board, gave evidence.

Q38 Chairman: Thank you very much for coming.
This is a short inquiry into the DNA Database. We
are taking evidence today, and next week we hope to
have Sir Alec JeVreys and perhaps another witness
giving evidence to us. Perhaps you could start by
telling the Committee how much crime is solved
largely or solely because of the existence of the
Database?
Chief Constable Sims: Good morning. Let me just
put some context around crime. There are about 4.9
million crimes reported every year; something
around 1.3 million crimes are detected each year;
and of those detections around about 33,000
originate from DNA. Another 45,000—

Q39 Chairman: From the Database?
Chief Constable Sims: Yes, from DNA.

Q40 Chairman: Solely or largely from the Database?
Chief Constable Sims: Correct,

Q41 Chairman: 33,000.
Chief Constable Sims: Around another 45,000 from
fingerprints.

Q42 Chairman: Could I just get the facts right, since
you have started with facts. Of the 4.9 million
crimes, 33,000 are solved solely or largely because of
the DNA Database?
Chief Constable Sims: Yes,

Q43 Chairman: Do we know what percentage that is
by any chance, for those who are not
mathematically minded?
Chief Constable Sims: No, I would have to sit down
and work that out.

Q44 Chairman: The chief clerk is trying to work it
out!
Chief Constable Sims: Chairman, could I put some
context around that. Most crimes do not have a
“scene” as such. Most crimes involve incidents
between people, are minor in variety, dealt with
locally and are generally solved because the victim
and the oVender are known to each other, or police
happen upon the incident as it is taking place, but are
dealt with broadly speaking by normal policing
means.

Q45 Chairman: In fact, what you are telling this
Committee is the vast majority of crimes—the vast
majority—are solved largely or solely because of
samples taken from suspects and witnesses during
the course of an investigation, rather than—
Chief Constable Sims: No, I am not saying that.

Q46 Chairman: How does that compare then, the
33,000?
Chief Constable Sims: I will perhaps ask Gary to
comment in a second, but I do not fully understand
the second part of that question because we do not
take samples generally during the course of
investigations. What we generally do is if we find a

sample at a scene then that sample will drive the
investigation through the application of the
Database.

Q47 Chairman: But at the moment you are giving
this figure of 33,000?
Chief Constable Sims: I am trying to put the global
figure here.

Q48 Chairman: That is very helpful.
Chief Constable Sims: I suppose I am trying to make
a point that in the general terms of crime DNA and
forensic science statistically is a small part of a bigger
picture. However, if you then look at some of the
more specific and serious crimes it will be a much,
much more significant part.

Q49 Chairman: You yourself, as the ACPO lead, are
on record, at least to the BBC, I think you gave them
some comments—
Chief Constable Sims: It must be true then!

Q50 Chairman: —saying that the current system
does need clarity, and that you felt it was not clear in
respect of the removal of—
Chief Constable Sims: I am sorry, are we jumping to
the last question?

Q51 Chairman: What is the last question?
Chief Constable Sims: The last question is about the
removal process.

Q52 Chairman: Have you had a list of the questions?
Chief Constable Sims: I have, yes; is that wrong?

Q53 Chairman: It is unusual!
Chief Constable Sims: I do apologise.

Q54 Chairman: How did you get them?
Chief Constable Sims: This arrived on my email
system.

Q55 Chairman: How extraordinary!
Chief Constable Sims: How extraordinary! Shall I
ignore them for the rest of the session?

Q56 Chairman: Not if you have read them. I think it
is very diYcult to ignore them if you received them
on your email system! Do you know who sent them
to you?
Chief Constable Sims: I could find that out, I have no
doubt; but I only received notification I was coming
at all at five o’clock yesterday. We are all a little
surprised perhaps by the turn of events.
Chairman: Let us then leave it in the order that you
were sent these questions on the email.

Q57 Mrs Cryer: If you have had a list of questions
you will already know that you have probably
answered the question I was going to ask you! The
question I was going to ask you is: do you actually
believe that old-fashioned policing in the majority of
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crimes is the way that we solve them, rather than
with a reliance on DNA and other forms of
forensic science?
Chief Constable Sims: Of course, but with the
proviso that “old-fashioned policing” as you style it
can be hugely strengthened by the application of
forensic science. One of the things that I think gets
hugely underplayed in debates like this is the degree
to which innocence can be proved by using forensic
science. Old-fashioned policing that might have
relied on arrest and interview can actually be
supported and supplemented by good use of
forensics.

Q58 Mrs Cryer: So proof of innocence or guilt can
lie with DNA but there is a great deal of work goes
on beforehand?
Chief Constable Sims: Of course. In general, the
more serious the oVence the bigger part that forensic
science plays in its detection and particularly the less
contact there is between victim and oVender, the
more important forensic science becomes.

Q59 Tom Brake: You would not support a view that
says, for instance, given there are a large number of
teenage boys who have their DNA taken because
they are involved in a minor oVence, they go on the
Database but they never subsequently commit any
further oVences, that actually you might as well just
take a random sample of DNA from the population
as a whole and you will probably get just as much use
out of that as you would from the samples that you
are currently taking?
Chief Constable Sims: Can I ask Gary to respond
to that.
Mr Pugh: I think this goes to the heart of the debate
of the retention of DNA from those who are arrested
and not convicted. You highlight individuals,
particularly those 10–18 year-olds who have what I
might call a “single arrest event” and no further
involvement with the police. I think in answer to
your point about a random sample of the
population, from where we look at this issue we are
hoping that the basis of retention of that group of
arrested not convicted needs to be based on some
evidence or some basis assessment of risk, if you like,
that they will or will possibly commit crime in the
future. This is where the Government’s recent
proposals and their statistical analysis comes up with
a six-year retention period based on that analysis
which indicates that someone who is the subject of a
single arrest event, if they do not come into contact
with the police in a six-year period after that, then
the level of potential oVending is the same as the
population at large. Therefore, there is a graph
within the Government’s consultation documents
which demonstrates that. The point is that it is
making an assessment of the likely risk, if you like,
of future oVending rather than just taking a random
sample of the population. From an operational
perspective clearly we want the Database to be
eVective and I think a random sampling would not
be so.

Q60 Tom Brake: Are you saying also that it is
currently not eVective because it has far too many
young people of the nature that I have described and
you have just confirmed?
Mr Pugh: No, and this goes again to the heart of the
matter, within that group of people who are arrested
not convicted, there are individuals currently, as the
law stands, who have a single arrest event and go on
and do not come into contact with the police. There
are, however, of course a significant proportion of
individuals who do come into contact with the police
and do commit crime, and a match is generated from
the Database because we recover their DNA at a
crime scene or on a victim. It is the distinction
between those two groups that is clearly at the heart
of the debate and the current legislation that is being
proposed.

Q61 Tom Brake: You will have heard my earlier
question to the other witnesses about cost-benefit
analysis. Have you got any cost-benefit analysis that
can prove to the Committee that in maintaining a
large DNA Database, which contains the records of
many, many hundreds of thousands of innocent
people, there is a benefit; that there is any advantage;
as opposed to spending, if you are able to cost it, and
I do not know whether you can tell me how much it
costs, to maintain the DNA of one innocent person
on a Database for a number of years? If you were to
spend that money on something else in policing
terms, would that be more eVective at tackling
crime?
Mr Pugh: In terms of costing I do not have the
underlying business case, but the cost of putting an
individual on the Database at current rates, if you
like, is around £30–£40. That is the cost of a single
analysis and the retention of their DNA. What we do
know is, and I can give you examples, where
individuals who are arrested and not convicted
subsequently match with DNA found at crime
scenes or on victims and allow us then to detect that
crime because their DNA was retained.

Q62 Tom Brake: But you cannot tell us, “We’ve
worked it out. We know that £30 times X number of
innocent people equals a sum of money which we’ve
looked at spending on something else in policing
terms”, and you cannot confirm whether that is
more eVective or less eVective?
Mr Pugh: Not least because we do not have that
underlying business case for other methods of police
use of informants or covert collection of
information.

Q63 David Davies: If I may disagree with the way the
question was worded. The question should not be
how much it costs to put somebody on, because
obviously those people are all going on anyway; the
question should be how much it costs to keep people
there and to maintain them there. Presumably, as
this is essentially an IT operation, the costs of
actually keeping somebody there is minimal. If it is



Processed: 16-02-2010 17:14:16 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442972 Unit: PAG1

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 9

5 January 2010 Chief Constable Chris Sims and Mr Gary Pugh

costs that are concerning Liberty and the other so-
called civil rights groups then actually there is
probably quite a high cost in removing people, is
there not?
Mr Pugh: Yes, I think it is fair to say DNA profiling
generates a string of numbers. Your DNA profile is
20 numbers so it is in fact very simple, in a sense,
from a technical point of view to retain that data;
compared, to say, a fingerprint, which is an image
and therefore more complex and requires more
storage. The cost of retaining a DNA profile is very
low I would say in comparison to the costs of
retaining other data or information.

Q64 Chairman: We have that figure for you: it is
0.67%. So what you are telling this Committee is that
0.67% of the crimes that are solved are solved largely
or solely because of the existence of the database?
Chief Constable Sims: It may be as high as 40% on
burglaries, say, but the global figure—

Q65 Chairman: Is 0.67%, which is pretty low, is it
not?
Mr Pugh: Can I expand? I think the figure you are
using there is the number of detections generated
from matches on the database, if you like the result
of a “cold” search. Those figures do not take into
account cases where, if you like, we have a known
suspect, and DNA profiling is used to support the
prosecution of that individual. So your focus is on
the database rather than the general use of DNA
profiling in tackling crime and particular violent
crimes. I think it underestimates the contribution.
Chairman: I am sorry; these are the figures that the
Chief Constable has given this Committee, and I am
just giving you what the percentage is, or was. It is
0.67%, which is quite low.

Q66 Mr Winnick: Given those figures, you make
take the view that some people are not persuaded
that retaining DNA samples is all that necessary.
However, can I put this to you, Chief Constable? In
the West Midlands, and you probably know my
constituency is in the region, I had a letter from a
constituent who has been arrested but not charged—
and I emphasise not charged—who strongly
complained that she felt stigmatised as her DNA
sample was being retained. I wrote to the Minister
because if I had written to you you would have
referred me to what Parliament has so far decided.
Can you understand the feeling of that constituent
of mine who, in the eyes of the law, is innocent but,
nevertheless, feels that it is quite wrong that she
should be stigmatised in the way which she described
to me in her letter?
Chief Constable Sims: Of course I can, and running
through all of this debate is this much more
fundamental question of balancing the rights of the
individual against public safety, and that is
absolutely at the heart of any discussion of the
Database. I suppose we need to go right back to the
Criminal Justice Act in 2003, where you, as MPs,
decided that it was right to put on to the Database
profiles of unconvinced persons. Since that date
chief constables have owned that data and exercised

the discretion given to them by that Act, and have
attempted to interpret what Parliament’s will was in
exercising that discretion. It is a diYcult balance,
and, as I am sure we will come on to in a minute, I
think there are ways that we could do that in a more
transparent manner.

Q67 Mr Winnick: What would you say to the
argument, which may well be unfair, that the police,
be it on pre-charge detention or, now, on DNA
samples, want as much authority as possible
regardless of the eVect it has on civil liberties?
Chief Constable Sims: Absolutely not. I picked up
the debate before that you were listening to and I
would utterly agree that the most important issue is
maintaining public consent, public support and
public understanding of what we do. To go back to
that data that I gave you right at the start, the
majority of crimes are actually detected by the
relationship that forms between victim, oVender and
police. Nothing that we do should get in the way of
that relationship. So the notion that the police want
more and more power for power’s sake is absolutely
a nonsense, but we are uniquely placed to
understand the impact of holding the data that we
do. I know they were dismissed as anecdotal cases
before but these are real cases involving real people
and real lives that are solved by judiciously handling
and managing data that Parliament has given us a
right to hold.

Q68 Mr Winnick: I wonder if the two of you will
reflect on the fact that the number involved, such a
very, very low percentage, which the Chairman has
told you, once it is publicised will inevitably lead
further to the view that Government and those who
support retaining the samples would lose the
argument. It is such a tiny, tiny percentage, which
inevitably, as I said, could undermine the
argument—at least one would have thought so—
about keeping samples for such a long period.
Chief Constable Sims: That is not new data; that
data is in the public domain. I wonder, though, if
people understood that in the last full year 83
murders were solved, 163 rapes were solved, each of
which could have ended in an extended series of
major crime that could have cost more lives or
ruined other lives.

Q69 Mr Winnick: We put that to the last witness,
actually, who argued against your viewpoint.
Chief Constable Sims: It is very tempting, is it not, to
just simply call those anecdotes and dismiss them,
but actually anecdotes are people and people are
what we are in the business of protecting.
Mr Winnick: I understand that.

Q70 David Davies: Finally, on that point, surely the
point is that of those 1.3 million crimes, the vast
majority are minor oVences.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes.
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Q71 David Davies: So the really important statistic is
what percentage of rapes, murders and serious
burglaries are solved. As you have said, it can be up
to 40%.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes, 40% for burglary.

Q72 David Davies: I have a question for you. One of
the previous witnesses suggested that young black
men are over-represented on the database, and I
think that is actually a fact, I do not think anyone
would argue with that. The elephant in the room
here is this (and I would liked to have put this to Ms
Abbott but I cannot because she is not here): is that
not actually the case because, unfortunately, and for
many reasons which we need to look into, young
black men between 18 and 25—or, to be more
precise, of Afro-Caribbean descent—are committing
more crimes than other members of the population?
Chief Constable Sims: Let me pass the question to
Gary because through the Board he has done a lot of
work on this important subject.
Mr Pugh: Yes, and I understand this Committee has
been looking at, if I could call it, the over-
representation of black and ethnic minorities in the
criminal justice system. It is a fact that the National
DNA Database and the proportions of diVerent
ethnic groups mirror, if you like, the way that the
criminal justice system operates and those
individuals who are arrested. So the Database is not
inherently discriminatory; it reflects, if you like, the
position that we are in with regard to the number of
people who are arrested from diVerent ethnic
groups. So, in that sense, it is a wider issue. I
certainly do not duck that issue and in the role I have
I have met with many who are concerned about this
over-representation and, added to that, perhaps, the
sensitivity of DNA profiling. We are doing a lot of
work on this: we have an equality impact
assessment; we are engaging with diVerent
communities to explain to them the way DNA
profiling works, and, also, the safeguards that are in
place in terms of the use of the data, the wider DNA
profiling that is used in the criminal justice system
and the nature of the records that are held on the
database. I think there is general confusion, perhaps,
between what I would call the genetic analysis—
things like looking at medical conditions and
ancestry—which is not something that we look at in
the police applications of DNA profiling; we look at
what is called “non-coding DNA” which does not
look at any of those aspects, but that does heighten
the sensitivity. It is certainly important to me, as
Chair of the Board (and I know many other
members of the Board share the same concerns), that
we do explain the basis on which the ethnic mix on
the Database is made.

Q73 David Davies: Statistics are a funny thing, but
there has been a lot of work done recently that
suggests that, actually, some of the most deprived
people in this country are white youths who come
from what some would call (wrongly, in my view) a
working class background. Probably, what they are
actually referring to is a sort of severely deprived
background. If you did a comparison of young black

youths as a percentage of the population and white
youths who came from those severely deprived
backgrounds, both financially and socially, would
you not probably find that the proportion was about
the same, or even that the white youths were even
more disproportionately on the database than their
black counterparts?
Mr Pugh: You might do. I am sorry, I cannot—
Chief Constable Sims: As far as we know—

Q74 David Davies: It is quite likely. It might be worth
looking at, given that this is reflected in other
statistics to do with unemployment and other
matters.
Mr Pugh: You mentioned the statistics. On some of
the figures that have been used, particularly the
three-quarters of young black males on the
Database I think there is a need for caution with
those statistics. They take the number of young
black males on the Database and divide it by the
2001 Census data, which actually collects ethnicity
data on a diVerent basis. I am not denying the issue
in any respect, but I think there is a need for caution
in the way that those statistics are generated and
used.
David Davies: Ten years out of date.

Q75 Gwyn Prosser: The previous two witnesses, you
might have heard, both made the point that there has
been no in-depth research on these matters in terms
of the statistics. I think this exchange goes to show
that just expressing the raw figures and then using
figures like the 0.67% are pretty meaningless.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes.

Q76 Gwyn Prosser: However, you do say that you
have figures in the public domain. Are they broken
down in terms of very serious violent oVences; rape;
burglary? Would you be in a position outside of this
meeting to provide the Chairman with those
statistics?
Chief Constable Sims: The National Database, part
of the statutory duty is to publish an annual report
which contains extensive data on the actual database
composition, the usage of it and the governance
arrangements, and that is in the public domain, and
we can certainly make the reference available.
Mr Pugh: I am happy to make it available.

Q77 Chairman: If you could write to me with those
details.
Chief Constable Sims: Certainly.

Q78 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Sims, in terms of the
database itself, in general, would chief constables
welcome a larger proportion of people’s DNA being
retained? Would they welcome the whole of the
population’s DNA being retained, albeit there
would be practical matter, particularly the practical
issues and the cost, perhaps? Would your colleagues
encourage expansion of the Database?
Chief Constable Sims: It is a good question. It is a
question that has been posed many, many times. I
start by going back to the answer I gave to Mr
Winnick a few minutes ago that we are acutely
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conscious of the (small “p”) political issue around
the Database. Therefore, there is no appetite to be
expansive about it beyond the use that is kind of
provable and current. If you got into the realms of
a national database, literally, for everyone, the cost-
benefit (that I accept we are unable to articulate
particularly strongly at the moment) would tip
heavily against its maintenance, and I think the
public acceptability of it would tip heavily against it.
I think my colleagues would see the current
arrangement as being sensible and proportionate
and doing the job that we would want it to do.

Q79 Bob Russell: Mr Sims, you come to today’s
hearing extremely well-briefed in advance and,
therefore, you will know that part of the purpose of
this session is to inquire why the police think it
necessary to obtain samples from those never
charged with an oVence or subsequently found not
guilty of an oVence. You have heard Mr Winnick
refer to a case in his constituency (I have two in
mine), and the simple maths are that if every MP has
a similar ratio it is in excess of 1,000 cases with
various chief constables. How many cases have you
got from Members of Parliament?
Chief Constable Sims: Personally in the West
Midlands? I have that data somewhere. A few
hundred. We are the second-biggest force in the
country.

Q80 Chairman: A few hundred?
Chief Constable Sims: Yes. My colleague will find
the data.

Q81 Bob Russell: Raised by Members of Parliament?
Chief Constable Sims: No, sorry, not by Members of
Parliament. No, I do not know that number.

Q82 Bob Russell: Would you accept from me,
because you are the lead oYcer on this, there are
significant inconsistencies in the willingness of the 43
chief constables to delete samples on request?
Chief Constable Sims: Yes. It is a discretionary
power, and I think we would like—and I hope that
the current Bill before Parliament will provide—
some codification of the way that power is used. We
would fully support that process.

Q83 Bob Russell: Without putting words in your
mouth, are you saying, then, that you feel this power
should be taken away from chief constables and
given to some other independent body so that we get
uniformity across the country?
Chief Constable Sims: I have no strong views on that.
I do think it needs to be exercised in a way that is
more transparent.

Q84 Bob Russell: And consistent?
Chief Constable Sims: And consistent, because,
again, by giving it as a discretionary power to 43
chief constables you are almost building in a level of
inconsistency in its application. I know a previous
question was asked about whether it would be useful
for the power to be exercised centrally by the
National Police Improvement Agency, and my only

comment on that is that there would be, probably,
some administrative advantages and there would
certainly be advantages in consistency. You would be
moving to a position, though, where data was owned
centrally, and I think one of the strengths of British
policing, if you like, is that data is actually owned by
43 chief constables, not by a central authority, be it
the Home OYce or the NPIA.

Q85 Bob Russell: I suppose if it was an independent
organisation, that would be a quango, would it not,
like Ofcom?
Chief Constable Sims: It could be.

Q86 Chairman: The point Mr Russell has made is
that if you look at the research that was produced by
Damien Green only a few days ago, if you happen to
live in Nottingham, Dyfed, Powys, Cambridgeshire,
the City of London, Humberside and
Gloucestershire, you will find that no DNA has been
removed as a result of applications. So it is not just
a question of codifying and making guidance clear; it
is a question of actually having some kind of overall
national consistency. What Peter Neyroud was
suggesting was that one organisation should do this,
and people should apply to that organisation and,
therefore, you will get the consistency that is
currently lacking. Even if you have guidance it still
remains in the hands of the local chief constable to
make those decisions, so you would have a situation
where this just does not apply in at least half-a-dozen
of these police authorities.
Chief Constable Sims: I think, though, having had
the experience of actually looking at these cases,
there is still a professional judgment that would need
to be made.

Q87 Chairman: What professional judgment did you
and your predecessor make in the case of our
Parliamentary colleague, Greg Hands, who I spoke
to this morning, who has been writing to the Chief
Constable of the West Midlands for the last two
years asking for his DNA to be removed, and who
has not had the courtesy of a reply from the Chief
Constable informing him, first of all, that his case is
being dealt with, and, secondly, that it has been
removed? Mr Hands told me this morning that he
had to put down a Parliamentary Question in
October of last year asking whether or not his DNA
was still on the database. Is not part of the worry
that we all have that the chief constables are not
engaging in simple customer service? When people
write and ask for information, no replies are being
received.
Chief Constable Sims: Can I very strongly refute
that. I do not know the case that you have
mentioned—

Q88 Chairman: Of Greg Hands, the Member of
Parliament for Fulham? You do not know of that?
Chief Constable Sims: It is not a case that I know of,
no, but I will—

Q89 Chairman: He has been writing to the West
Midlands Police who took his DNA.
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Chief Constable Sims: It is not a case that I have
seen.

Q90 Chairman: Not at all?
Chief Constable Sims: Not at all.

Q91 Chairman: No notice of it?
Chief Constable Sims: I have not seen that case, but
we deal with many hundreds of cases, so I will go
from here and research that to find out what the case
is and will be replying to your colleague.

Q92 Chairman: Mr Sims, is it not the fact that people
are upset about the way in which chief constables are
currently dealing with very simple queries (Mr
Russell mentioned the case that he wrote about; I,
indeed, have written about cases myself)? Replies are
not forthcoming; there is a lack of engagement.
Chief Constable Sims: I am sorry, I cannot just
accept that comment from a case that I do not
know of.

Q93 Chairman: Tell us about your area in the West
Midlands. How many letters have you received
asking—
Chief Constable Sims: From MPs?

Q94 Chairman: From anybody, asking for their
DNA to be removed?
Chief Constable Sims: I have, in the 12 months in
question, received 227, and 55 of them have been
removed.

Q95 Chairman: How quickly do you reply to people
informing them?
Chief Constable Sims: We would attempt to reply
within 10 working days, as we would with any other
question. I do not think this is a question of
customer service; I think there is a fundamental issue
about the way discretion has been given in a diVused
manner and I think there is an opportunity in the
current Bill that is before Parliament to provide a
better framework for that discretion, which we
would welcome.

Q96 Chairman: So you would accept Mr Green’s
statement and his article in The Guardian of 31
December that all this demonstrates is that the DNA
issue is in a bit of a shambles?
Chief Constable Sims: No. I think it is being perfectly
well managed but it would be better managed
against the background of some agreed codification
of the regulation.

Q97 Tom Brake: Mr Sims, you said that if, say, the
NPIA took on the responsibility for it this is
something that we would need to think carefully
about because this would mean centralised data.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes.

Q98 Tom Brake: Why would that be the case?
Presumably, someone who wanted their DNA
removed would contact the NPIA and say: “I want
it removed”, then the NPIA would contact the
relevant force and say: “Tell us about the

circumstances of this case” and then request that
they delete it. So the NPIA would not have to have
the data, would it?
Chief Constable Sims: I think you are talking about
a slightly diVerent option there. I would support the
ability of a central co-ordinating point to manage
inquiries. The issue, I think, though, is whose
decision is it to make the removal. The strength of
the current system, for all the frailties that have been
discussed, is that decision sits with the chief
constable of the area who owns the data. I think in
our response to the consultation on DNA we did
suggest a level of national co-ordination of the way
that requests come in and of the sort of servicing of
the request. That will be absolutely right and proper,
but I do think that is one step away from actually
making the decision a centralised decision on the
back of who owns the data.

Q99 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Sims, you have talked about
the Bill having some measures in it to codify these
decisions.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes.

Q100 Gwyn Prosser: When we talked to Peter
Neyroud we talked about the possibility of him or
his agency taking over this responsibility centrally. I
got the impression that he said there was no need for
legislation; all it needed was for his 43 colleagues to
delegate authority for him to make these decisions.
If that is the case, and I believe it to be the case, are
we talking about individual chief constables who are
coveting—
Chief Constable Sims: No, I do not think so, Mr
Prosser, but I do think it is slightly more complicated
than that because I think it brings into question the
whole question of data ownership. That is probably
a more complex question than we have got time for
this morning but, at the moment, data is owned by
the originating force rather than by one central body.
I do take quite seriously actually the notion that we
would want to think very carefully before we put all
of the data ownership into the hands of a central
body that itself is a tripartite organisation governed
by the Home OYce.

Q101 Chairman: You are using the term “owned” as
a legal term, are you?
Chief Constable Sims: Yes, I am.

Q102 Chairman: Rather than “held”. It sounds very
strange that somebody’s DNA, who is innocent, is
actually owned by you if they happen to live in the
West Midlands. It is a legal term, is it?
Chief Constable Sims: It is a legal term.
Mr Pugh: It is a general governance issue which is
covered in the Government’s proposed legislation. I
chair the DNA Strategy Board, as a member of
ACPO, and I am a data controller in common, so in
a sense I take decisions about the totality of the data
but that decision-making is, in a sense, still kept
within ACPO, within the chief police oYcer
community. I think what Peter Neyroud is proposing
is taking that decision somewhere else, if you like,
and I think Chris is highlighting that would need
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careful consideration because it is changing the basis
on which the police hold and own data under the
Data Protection Act.

Q103 Gwyn Prosser: Could I ask you, perhaps, to
look at the evidence put before this Committee on 15
December by Mr Neyroud and then, if you think it
appropriate, you might want to submit further
written evidence to the Chairman.
Mr Pugh: Yes.

Q104 Mr Winnick: You said that you will be looking
into the correspondence.
Chief Constable Sims: Yes.

Q105 Mr Winnick: I also said, when I was
questioning you about the letter that I received from
a constituent, I did not write to you for the reasons
I stated, and I wrote to the Minister. However, since
you are before us and you are the Chief Constable of
the West Midlands, can you just clarify the position
about letters from Members of Parliament? There
have been occasions, certainly with your
predecessors, when I did write (and I am sure this
applies to other West Midlands MPs) and did not
always get a reply from the Chief Constable himself
(it was always himself). Is it your practice to make
sure that you sign the letter which goes to Members
of Parliament?
Chief Constable Sims: Not necessarily. You might
recall that I came down to the House just before
Christmas and met with the group of West Midlands
MPs and we raised this issue (I know you were there
for part of the session, not for all of it). The majority
of your colleagues would, I think, quite properly,
want the ability to write to the chief constable, but
recognise that very often these are local issues that
are better dealt with directly through
correspondence with the local chief superintendent.

Q106 Mr Winnick: If I write to the chief constable it
is because it is a more serious matter than writing to
who I would normally write to.
Chief Constable Sims: Quite rightly that escalates the
debate very properly but, generally speaking, if it is
about a local issue then the local chief
superintendent—

Q107 Mr Winnick: If it is not about a local issue,
as such—
Chief Constable Sims: Then it would be through me,
certainly.

Q108 Mr Winnick: And then you would sign the
letter?

Chief Constable Sims: I would sign the letter.

Q109 Bob Russell: I do want to put a further
question to Mr Sims, but before I do so I hope you
did not misinterpret, Chairman, my observations
about my pursuing cases with the Chief Constable of
Essex as being anything other than successive chief
constables gave prompt and very eYcient answers to
my requests. The problem is the Government have
not yet responded positively to the December 2008
ruling of the European Court of Human Rights, and
that is where successive Chief Constables of Essex
find themselves. What I am intrigued about,
however, is I wonder if Mr Sims could repeat the
figures he gave, Chairman, of the number of
applications or requests he has had in the last 12
months and how many he granted. That struck me
as being a very high figure compared with some—
Chief Constable Sims: It is about just over 20%.

Q110 Bob Russell: Well, 20% is more than zero, is
it not?
Chief Constable Sims: It is. I think the average across
the country is 22%, so I think we are roughly on an
average figure.
Bob Russell: Chairman, if we have not got those
force-by-force statistics, I wonder if we could have
them, please?

Q111 Chairman: Absolutely. I think these statistics
come from the Freedom of Information requests
from Mr Green.
Chief Constable Sims: Indeed.

Q112 Chairman: I think it would be helpful if the
Committee had these statistics on a regular basis.
Certainly that is a very high figure, and it certainly
seems if you live in Birmingham it is better than
living in Nottingham.
Chief Constable Sims: At all sorts of levels that might
be true! I think it is an average figure, Chairman,
actually; it is about an average figure.

Q113 Chairman: What is? Your 20%?
Chief Constable Sims: 24%. 22% is the average.

Q114 Chairman: Yours is 20%?
Chief Constable Sims: Ours is actually, for
accuracy, 24%.

Q115 Chairman: What is the Met’s figure?
Chief Constable Sims: 23% per cent.

Q116 Chairman: Mr Sims and Mr Pugh, thank you
very much. Mr Sims, thank you for coming at such
short notice. You have been very helpful. We might
write to you again about a number of points but you
have been extremely helpful, thank you.
Chief Constable Sims: Thank you very much.
Chairman: Thank you, Mr Pugh, for coming as well.
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Q117 Chairman: Minister, thank you very much for
coming to give evidence today. It seems that you are
before us on a regular basis these days. We have
taken evidence from a number of witnesses on our
very short inquiry into the DNA Database. In
particular, we have just heard from the ACPO lead
on this subject, who said to the Committee that he
felt that matters concerning the DNA Database
ought to be improved. Do you agree that there ought
to be an improvement, which kind of accepts that it
is not perfect at the moment?
Mr Campbell: Yes, I do. First of all, it is a pleasure to
be here. That is why in seeking to address the S and
Marper case, which we are obliged to do, we have
sought to go more widely than that and have
brought forward proposals which are currently in
the Crime and Security Bill shortly to be debated
before Parliament.

Q118 Chairman: Are you concerned at the over-
representation of young black people on the
National DNA Database? Ms Abbott, in her
evidence to this Committee, along with Liberty, put
the figure in terms of some of the age ranges of young
black people at 77%, although we were cautioned by
one of the other witnesses about those figures.
Certainly it is accepted that they are over-
represented on the Database. Do you accept that?
Are you concerned about that?
Mr Campbell: Yes, I am concerned because, in
general, there is over-representation of some groups,
and that is what the statistics lead us to conclude.

Q119 Chairman: What are you doing about it?
Mr Campbell: First of all, I would not necessarily
accept (though I will look carefully at the figures
which Ms Abbott has given to the Committee) that
number, but I would make two points: first of all,
this is, in a sense, a statistical point, that we have to
be careful about what we are comparing here. If you
take, for example, the Census, which would give us
data on the representation in the general population
of people from diVerent ethnic groups, that is based
on 16 self-defining groups. So, for example, a mixed
race male might put themselves, according to the
Census, as a “mixed race male”. When it comes to
the Database there are far fewer groups; there are
only six groups, and they are not self-defining, they
are defined by the arresting oYcer, who may well, for
example, describe and write down that individual as
a “black male”. Therefore, I think we should be
careful when we are dealing with statistics. However,
I do not believe that gives us the evidence for over-
representation. In short, I think if there is over-
representation, which I accept on the Database, it is
because it reflects issues in the wider criminal
justice system.

Q120 Tom Brake: I would just, first of all, like to ask
a question about the cost-eVectiveness of the DNA
Database. Earlier witnesses from the police have
made it clear that there has been no assessment of
whether maintaining a DNA Database is more cost-
eVective in tackling crime than any other policing

approach. Does the Government carry out cost-
eVectiveness assessments of diVerent crime-tackling
approaches or not?
Mr Campbell: We have not carried out an assessment
in the way that you have described, but we do
acknowledge—and I am sure I am sharing the view
of the police—that we regard the DNA database as
absolutely crucial in the fight against crime. To some
extent, we are leading the way, both in the
technology but, also, in the use of DNA and of the
Database, and we regard it as of enormous
importance and, therefore, of value when it comes to
tackling crime.

Q121 Tom Brake: However, you do not actually
have any independent analysis of that which
suggests that the DNA Database is more cost-
eVective at tackling crime than, say, investing in
training oYcers to deal with rape cases, for instance?
Mr Campbell: I will go away and look to see whether
any work has been done, but none to my knowledge.
What I would say is that DNA is only one part of the
fight against crime, but in our view it is a crucial part.
There are a number of examples that I could give
where DNA has been that vital piece of evidence
which has led to detection and, ultimately, the
conviction of some of the most serious criminals, not
just to, as far as one can, put at rest the concerns of
the families but, also, course, to protect the wider
public from what those people would have gone on
to have done.

Q122 Tom Brake: Can we return to the issue of over-
representation of young black people on the DNA
Database? Minister, do you believe that this points
to a problem in policing in that more young black
people are being arrested, or stopped, than people
from other minorities or, indeed, the majority
community?
Mr Campbell: In saying that I thought that the over-
representation on the Database reflects the, if you
like, over-representation in the criminal justice
system in general, I think that this is an issue for the
whole of the criminal justice system, not just for the
police. To deal with your point specifically, there are,
of course, at least concerns about the issues that you
raise which is why we are already seeking to deal with
them. We are not waiting for the debate around
DNA, we are actually seeking to address those
concerns, which are concerns about the criminal
justice system, not specifically about DNA. For
example, the NPIA Next Steps programme does
address issues around community confidence and
around perceptions about stop and search, for
example. We have also got Public Service Agreement
24, a target, if you like, for every local Criminal
Justice Board to make sure that they are using tools
to identify ethnicity to see whether or not there is
over-representation in their own areas of particular
groups of people, and if there is no evidence to back
up that over-representation then why it should be so
that they take steps to address it. I would like to try
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to assure the Committee that we were on to this issue
long before, if you like, the debate we are having
about DNA.

Q123 David Davies: Just putting a previous
question, if there is an issue that young black youths
are over-represented, surely that may be because
they are committing more crime, and that is what we
need to be looking at? Why can we not just accept
this, instead of having this thought lingering in the
back of our minds but nobody wanting to say it in
case they are accused of being racist?
Mr Campbell: I am not going to say it because I do
not accept that rather, if you will excuse me,
simplistic account of why there should be over-
representation. There are issues across the criminal
justice system of young black men coming into
contact with the criminal justice system (and, of
course, their first point of contact may well be with
the police); there are some crime-types, for example,
where it may be that young black men are more
likely to be involved—sometimes as the victim as
well as the perpetrator—but I think that
generalisation that you make I would not accept. I
do not think we should say it because I do not think
it is true.

Q124 Gwyn Prosser: Minister, given that you accept
there is over-representation of some groups, and you
went on to say that you share the concern of the
Chairman about that, what can you point to us in
the current Bill which addresses that or goes some
way to addressing that problem?
Mr Campbell: It goes back to my first point really
which is about the over-representation in the
criminal justice system and this being reflected on the
DNA Database. The DNA Database is, for want of
a better term, colour blind; it does not record people
according to their ethnic background. What the
Crime and Security Bill seeks to do is to put on a
statutory footing the new rules, if you like, for DNA.
It does not specifically deal with this issue of
proportionality or, indeed, disproportionality. The
eVect of the Bill, and indeed the changes that we
would make should the Bill be successful, would be
broadly neutral; it would not have an adverse eVect
or, indeed, a positive eVect on this issue of
disproportionality, the answer to which lies
elsewhere, I think.

Q125 Gwyn Prosser: The evidence we received this
morning from both sets of witnesses all pointed to
the fact that there had been no in-depth research
done into the eVectiveness of DNA—the number of
crimes actually solved—except for some raw figures
which we have had from ACPO which do not really
paint a picture. Would it not be useful in trying to
raise people’s confidence and communities’
confidence about the eVectiveness and the propriety
of the DNA Database if the Home OYce were to
carry out such research work?
Mr Campbell: Again, I agreed to go away and look
to see if there is any research that we have done that
we can bring forward. To the best of my knowledge
other people have done some work on that; it is a

case of collecting the best evidence that we have from
all sources. I do not think the public are in need of
being convinced of the eVectiveness of the DNA
Database. I am confident that a majority of people
in the country actually support the use of DNA and
support the use of the Database. Obviously they
want a proper debate around who should be on that
Database, but I think they recognise it for what it is,
which is an absolutely crucial tool in the fight against
crime. Just let me say, perhaps, a supplementary to
that: we are at the forefront of the development of
DNA and of the technology and its application to
fighting crime. To some extent we are having to face
these issues first; many other countries are playing
catch-up with us and, therefore, a lot of the research
that you might be looking for just has not been
done yet.

Q126 Bob Russell: Minister, that last response shows
you to be the most enthusiastic person to come
before the Committee in support of DNA. Given
your wonderful grandstanding and cheerleading,
and the emphasis that the Government has on the
importance of DNA in solving crime, would you like
the Database to contain DNA from a greater
proportion of the population as a whole?
Mr Campbell: Let me balance that by saying that if
there was less criminality (which as the Minister for
crime reduction I am very much in favour of), and
from that there were fewer arrests, then it follows
that the Database would, perhaps, over time, shrink.
If that was the case I would be one of the first to
applaud that. Let me get on to the substance of your
question, which is about how big the Database needs
to be. It is not a question of size, it is about making
sure that the right people are on the Database, and
that is what the Crime and Security Bill is all about;
getting the right people on and getting that balance
between public protection. I am an enthusiast for the
DNA Database because I think it is a crucial tool for
helping to protect the public. However, I also accept
that there are concerns (you will have heard some of
them this morning) and that is why we need to have a
balanced approach which balances public protection
and the right of individuals. I do want to emphasise,
I think DNA is a crucial tool in the fight against
crime.

Q127 Bob Russell: Why then do we not invite
members of the public to volunteer to opt in to have
their DNA so that you can widen the Database?
Mr Campbell: I do not think we need to do that.
What we are putting forward in the Crime and
Security Bill actually is a proportionate measure to
defend the public, which is to make sure that we have
the right people on and that the right people stay on.
I do not think we need to go down the route that
you suggest.

Q128 Bob Russell: Just to finalise this: as you know,
part of today’s session is to inquire why the police
think it necessary to retain samples from those never
charged with an oVence or subsequently found not
guilty of an oVence. The Chief Constable of West
Midlands volunteered the fact that his police force,
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and indeed the Metropolitan Police Force, have
removed 23% and 24% respectively, I believe were
the figures, of people who have requested that they
come oV. Why can the Government not give interim
advice to all chief constables to try and match
those figures?
Mr Campbell: First of all, with regard to samples, of
course, in the Bill we are proposing the deletion of
samples after a maximum of six months and keeping
only profiles, which I think will reassure the public
about what some people might say samples could be
used for as opposed to profiles. In terms of deletion,
I do not think we should prejudge Parliament in this
regard. There has been a strong and robust debate
since the S and Marper judgment, and I am sure there
will be one during the passage of the Crime and
Security Bill. It might be we put forward, for
example, a six-year limit for people who are arrested
but not convicted to stay on the Database; it might
be that Parliament arrives at a diVerent point on
that. I would hate to think that we had instructed
chief constables to arrive at some arbitrary figure
using whatever criteria I cannot quite work out and
then find that, actually, some of the people that have
been deleted should have stayed on.

Q129 Chairman: We were given a figure by Mr Sims
that only 0.67% of the crimes solved were solved
solely or largely due to the database. That is a very,
very minute figure, is it not, 0.67%?
Mr Campbell: But a crucial figure, because there are
a number of cases, for example, Mark Dixie and
Sally Anne Bowman, where DNA was an absolutely
crucial element in that. I have accepted that DNA
only plays a part in the detection of crime; it is not a
substitute for all the other good policing that needs
to take place, but it is a crucial element, often, in
some of the most serious and horrendous crimes.

Q130 Chairman: If prevention is better than cure,
surely you should accept the suggestion put forward
by Mr Russell that the whole population should go
on there, in the pre-emptive hope that at some stage
in the future we will be able to catch someone?
Mr Campbell: There are those who might argue that
case, but I do not think that that is, generally, the
view—we will test the will of Parliament on this, of
course—of the public; what they are looking for, and
what the European Court demanded in the case of S
and Marper was a proportionate response, and that
proportionate response has to balance public safety,
which is predominant in the argument that you have
just outlined there, with personal and individual
freedoms, which of course lead some people to argue
we should not have a Database in the first place.
Bob Russell: Lest it be used against me, that was a
probing question.
Chairman: Of course, as all your questions are, Mr
Russell, I am sure. Now David Davies will probe
you further.
David Davies: This will not be much of a probing
question because my views are fairly close to the
Minister’s on this.

Mr Winnick: That is surprising!
Chairman: Let us move on and ask the question.

Q131 David Davies: One point that I do want to raise
is that, at the moment, it is up to the chief constable
to use his or her discretion to get rid of the DNA of
innocent people. There is a suggestion that perhaps
this should be handed out to somebody like the
NPIA or ACPO, or someone else. I can actually see
some merit in that, because it removes any blame
from a local chief constable. Is that something that
the Government might consider?
Mr Campbell: It is something that we are
considering and something that we are looking at
because we do think that there may be a case for a
central authority, and the NPIA might be part of
that, to give a greater role in considering
applications. Let me just say, however, that the DNA
Database, and who is on it, is an operational tool—
it is an operational matter—and, therefore, chief
constables will, in my view, inevitably have a role to
play in that. Again (and I keep using the phrase but
it is the best one, I think), we need to come back to
a balanced approach on this; we need to make sure
that the safeguards are in there and that people who
should be coming oV the Database are, but, also,
that those who should be staying on do too. Of
course, in the Crime and Security Bill, Mr Davies, we
are also bringing forward proposals for much clearer
guidelines for the first time based in statute, so that
chief constables are much better aware of whether or
not a person should be deleted from the Database.
At the minute, it is very much up to their discretion,
and we have to leave them some discretion because,
of course, on operational matters they should be
predominant.

Q132 Chairman: However, it is not acceptable at the
moment, is it, that if you live in Nottingham, Dyfed
or Cambridgeshire you have no chance of getting
your DNA removed, but if you live in the West
Midlands, Leicestershire or in the Met area then it
will be removed? There are about half-a-dozen forces
where you have got no prospect at all of having your
profiles taken oV.
Mr Campbell: I understand that, which is why I have
acknowledged that there is a role, we believe, for a
central authority approach to this but, also,
crucially, to give much clearer guidelines based in
statute really for the first time so that chief
constables know what the rules are and what the
parameters are, and if you like—following on from
that—less discretion than they have at present.

Q133 Chairman: I spoke to Damien Green this
morning, your opposite number, about his DNA
and asked whether he had received notification that
it had been destroyed, and he informed me that it
had been, and the explanation was that it had been
taken “in exceptional circumstances”. That
guidance that you have referred to does not have to
wait for legislation, does it? We have a Home
Secretary.
Mr Campbell: No, there is guidance now, of course,
but what we are seeking—
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Q134 Chairman: Why do you not just revise it?
Mr Campbell: What we are seeking to do is to tighten
the guidance, but for the first time to put it on a
statutory footing, which is why it is in the Bill. I
cannot go into detail of what would be in there
because we are clearly still working on it, but I
believe it will address many of the concerns that
people have.

Q135 Mr Winnick: I wonder if I can, Minister,
personalise this a little, because there are strong
feelings on both sides. If someone (I am sure this
would never happen but just for the sake of
argument) very close to you, family-wise, was
arrested but not charged, would you not feel very
strongly that the DNA sample which had been taken
should be destroyed?
Mr Campbell: If I may personalise it, my answer to
that is no, but I also accept that there are some
people who are aVronted by that, which is why—

Q136 Mr Winnick: Which you would not be
yourself. I am sorry, if a family member—
Mr Campbell: Or a member of my family, no, I
would not be. I think that would be an eVect of
having found themselves in those circumstances,
unfortunate though they are. My personal response
(because you did seek to personalise it) would be I
would not, and I would say to them that is something
they would have to accept for whatever the time was
going to be, if the proposals in the Bill go through,
before it will be deleted. However, I do understand
the concerns of some people who say that is not
acceptable, which is why we need to search for that
proportionate and balanced response.

Q137 Mr Winnick: To a previous witness, the Chief
Constable of the West Midlands, I referred to a
constituent who had been arrested, not for a serious
oVence, and not charged, and who wrote to me,
understandably, in view of the concern of that
person that the DNA sample should be deleted. So I
wrote to you, and you replied accordingly, but you
do accept, therefore, Minister, there are very strong
feelings on this issue amongst people who feel that it
is simply unjust that they should be stigmatised in
this manner.
Mr Campbell: I accept that there is an argument
about that. I do not agree with that. I cannot recall
the exact details of the case that you refer to but there
are circumstances in which people, perhaps, should
not have had their DNA taken in the first place. That
needs to be addressed particularly through the
guidelines that we are looking to strengthen. There
is also an argument, of course, about young people,
because I believe there is a feeling that if young
people, as some do, get involved in some criminal
activity and it is a one-oV, then that should not be
held against them for ever more and, also, should
not be held against them in the same way as if an
adult was found in those circumstances. So I do
think that people accept that there should be a
diVerent approach for diVerent groups of people, but
the reality is—and this would be my response to my
relative that you are talking about that would come

to me and complain—unfortunately, he or she is part
of a group of people which the research that we have
available says there is a greater risk of them
oVending over the next X-number of years (the
figure that we have reached is six for adult), based on
the research that we have, and, therefore, to some
extent it is a price that they are paying for finding
themselves in those circumstances. However, like it
or not, they are part of that group.

Q138 Mr Winnick: As part of your argument (which
I have already quoted to another witness) in the
Westminster Hall debate initiated by Diane Abbott,
who gave evidence today, your response to many of
her points was to refer to that monster Wright,
where, as a result of his DNA being taken for theft,
his DNA was later used to help to convict him of the
murder of five totally innocent women in Ipswich.
Mr Campbell: Yes.

Q139 Mr Winnick: You would use that, basically?
Mr Campbell: Yes, there are a number of cases and
diVerent circumstances. Sometimes DNA has been
taken earlier and, therefore, when a more serious
crime is committed the crime is detected.

Q140 Mr Winnick: You put great emphasis on the
Wright case.
Mr Campbell: Sometimes it is a case, of course, that
undetected crimes, very serious crimes, are then
detected later because that person comes into
contact with the police and has their DNA taken for
a less serious oVence, or does not find themselves in
court and therefore are not convicted. There are a
number of diVerent permutations on that, but
overall, of course, there is a group of people who are
arrested but not convicted, and our research says
that for the next six years they are more likely to
oVend than the rest of the general population. That
is not a universal rule for every one of them in that
group, but it is a rule for that group of people.

Q141 Chairman: The figures that I have just been
shown show that 77% of males re-oVend within 24
months. If that is the case, why do we need to retain
for six years?
Mr Campbell: Because there is a tail to that, which
goes on beyond the 22 months that you have just
said. Of course, it is a matter of judgment. There is
not a perfect timescale for this, we have to make a
judgment, and, to be clear with the Committee, we
have erred on the side of caution, which I think we
should do on this matter, and that is why we are
proposing a six-year retention period. It is a cautious
approach but I think the public would expect that
from us.

Q142 David Davies: Minister, as a fellow supporter
of this, why do you not allow people to opt in, if you
like, to go on this Database? We could start with all
Members of Parliament, like you and I, who have no
problem with this and would fervently support it; let
us all put our money where our mouth is, and invite
chief constables too, as well, and then all of us can
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say to our constituents, Liberty and any other so-
called civil rights groups: “Look, we have done it, so
what’s the problem with other people being on it
as well?”
Mr Campbell: Can I suggest, from previous
experience, your contributions to the committee
stages of Bills are invaluable. Either at committee
stage or at report stage there is always the
opportunity, if the Government was not to bring
forward such an amendment, that you could.
Chairman: This is beginning to sound like a love-in.
I shall bring in Mrs Cryer.

Q143 Mrs Cryer: Minister, can I just clarify the
position? If the Crime and Security Bill goes through
Parliament unamended so far as this aspect is
concerned about DNA being retained, am I right in
saying that the DNA of anyone who is found guilty
of a crime will be kept for six years, but anyone who
has DNA taken on arrest and is never charged, or
anyone who has had their DNA taken and it does
not go through to a trial—and therefore we must
assume that those categories are innocent—their
DNA samples will be destroyed? Am I right in saying
that? Will that be the rule from then on?
Mr Campbell: Let me get it clear that if someone is
an adult and they are arrested and convicted their
DNA will be kept indefinitely.

Q144 Mrs Cryer: Indefinitely?
Mr Campbell: If they are an adult and they are
arrested but not convicted then their DNA—these
are the “innocents” that people speak of—will be
held, in the case of adults, for six years irrespective
of the seriousness of the crime that they were
arrested for. For children we are proposing that
juveniles who are convicted will be treated as adults;
juveniles who are arrested but not convicted will be
kept for a three-year retention period. That is
because of the point I made before: some children
come into contact with the criminal justice system as
a one-oV and we do not believe that they should be
held for as long and certainly not indefinitely.

Q145 Mrs Cryer: However, for an adult, once the
DNA is taken on arrest, even if they are not charged,
that is still going to be kept for six years, or if it does
not go to trial because of a lack of evidence, lack of
witnesses or whatever. We still must presume them to
be innocent, but their samples will still be kept for
six years.
Mr Campbell: Yes. I think I am falling into this trap
too. We need to be talking about profiles being kept,
not samples. Once we have established that, if they
are convicted of an oVence and they are adults, that
will be kept indefinitely. If they are arrested but not
convicted then their profile will be kept for six years.
That is because they belong to that group where our
research says that even though they have not been
convicted of that crime, they are more likely to
oVend during the next six years than the rest of the
general population.

Q146 Mrs Cryer: That is for people who are not
convicted but it has gone to trial.

Mr Campbell: No, sorry, it is someone who is
arrested. I want to say that the threshold that we
have, which is being arrested for a recordable
oVence, we believe is quite a strong threshold. You
are talking about serious crimes here; you are talking
about crimes that the public take very seriously. I
think the initial threshold is, if you like, the first
hurdle to get across. Once that has been crossed and
the person has been arrested then their DNA profile
will be kept. If they are not convicted, however, it
will be deleted, if they are adults, after a period of
six years.

Q147 Tom Brake: Minister, I am right in saying that
you have just said that children who are convicted
will be treated as adults and, therefore, their profiles
will be retained indefinitely. Is that what you just
said?
Mr Campbell: How do we define “children”? 16 to
17-year-olds arrested but not convicted will be
treated as adults. For all other juveniles arrested but
not convicted there will be a three-year retention.

Q148 Tom Brake: Children who are convicted, what
is the position?
Mr Campbell: Children who are convicted will have
their profile—

Q149 Chairman: Do you want to take advice?
Mr Campbell: Yes, can I just check this? It is the
same advice as I have in front of me, which has not
really helped me greatly! Your point is, Mr Brake?
Remind me.

Q150 Tom Brake: Children who are convicted, how
are their DNA profiles going to be treated?
Mr Campbell: They are going to be treated as adults.

Q151 Tom Brake: So retained indefinitely.
Mr Campbell: Yes.

Q152 Tom Brake: Minister, are you happy that we
are treating children in the same way as adults in
relation to crime? Are you comfortable with that?
Mr Campbell: Well, we are not, of course, because
we are dealing with them diVerently if they have been
arrested but not convicted, because it is a shorter
period that we are retaining their sample, but you are
also assuming, perhaps, that there are some children
who do not commit some horrendous crimes and,
therefore, should be treated diVerently, according to
the seriousness of the oVence, from adults. I do not
believe that is true.

Q153 Tom Brake: Unless I have misunderstood
what you are saying, you are saying that all children,
provided they have been convicted, irrespective of
whether it is a horrible oVence, will be treated in
exactly the same way as adults and their DNA
profile will be retained.
Mr Campbell: You will appreciate that this is quite a
complex set of proposals that we are bringing
forward. Let me be absolutely clear in case I have not
expressed myself clearly enough on this. If children
are convicted of serious oVences then they will be
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treated as adults and kept indefinitely. For those
convicted of minor oVences the data will be retained
for five years from the first oVence. If they commit a
second oVence then it will be retained indefinitely. I
apologise for the confusion.
Chairman: Thank you for clearing it up.

Q154 Bob Russell: Minister, the legislation that the
Government is planning to put through is a direct
response to the December 2008 ruling of the
European Court of Human Rights, yet on the
information we have been given (the source being
the European Court of Justice) there does not
appear to be a single European country—admittedly
there are diVerences amongst the list we have here—
which undertakes what is proposed in the legislation
you are putting through. Has there been any
consideration as to whether the United Kingdom is
going to be the odd one out—in step or out of step?
Mr Campbell: Of course, there is not a United
Kingdom approach because there is a diVerent
approach taken in Scotland.

Q155 Bob Russell: Can I take an England
approach, then?
Mr Campbell: An England and Wales approach, yes.
Yes, we have considered what is happening in other
countries and there are—I cannot name them oV the
top of my head and go into the detail that you might
demand about the system that they have—others
that take as robust an approach as we do and there
are others that take a diVerent view.

Q156 Chairman: You are telling this Committee, in
conclusion, that the situation at the moment is not
satisfactory but the Government hopes to make it
satisfactory through the Crime and Security Bill.
There is, however, no second reading date that has
been confirmed for this Bill, and the worry on the
part of Members is that with an election due, of
course, this year the statute will not be enacted in
time. Do you not feel that some of these issues which
the Government wishes to proceed with ought to be
proceeded with immediately, for example the issue of
guidance, et cetera, so that some of these injustices
that clearly exist can be resolved?
Mr Campbell: We are hoping to proceed quickly.
There may not be a definite date for second reading
but I am anticipating that it will be soon and I am
anticipating that the Bill will go into committee and
that it will get through.

Q157 Chairman: Do we have a timetable?
Mr Campbell: It is up to the Parliamentary Business
Manager to decide.

Q158 Chairman: Is the Bill ready to go to the House?
Mr Campbell: Yes, and my understanding is it will go
before the House very soon.

Q159 Chairman: “Very soon” meaning in January?
Mr Campbell: That is very much my hope.
Chairman: Thank you. Minister, thank you so much
for coming.
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Q160 Chairman: The second evidence session today
deals with the Committee’s inquiry into the DNA
database. The Committee is inquiring into whether
or not the allegation that there is excessive use of the
database is correct and why the police retain the
DNA of people not charged with any oVences. I
welcome our two witnesses: Mr Hands, a Member of
Parliament, and Mr Jonathan Leighton. Mr Hands,
to can you tell the Committee briefly the
circumstances in which the police took your DNA?
Mr Hands: It followed the murder of my uncle Leslie
Ince in Walsall on or about 21 February 2007. He
was still alive when found and died about two
months later. A 14-inch barbeque skewer had been
put through him. I was questioned by the police who
came here in May or June, or possibly late April, of
2007. After an admittedly courteous and
professional visit, but quite a short one in terms of
trying to find out any of the circumstances
surrounding the death and whether or not I might
have been involved, they took a DNA sample and all
10 fingerprints. That put me on the DNA database
and it was enormously diYcult to try to come oV it.
To this day I still do not know whether or not I have
been properly deleted from it.

Q161 Chairman: You were not at the scene of the
crime?
Mr Hands: I was nowhere near the scene of the
crime; I was here on or about the time in question on
21 February. At no point was there any indication of
suspicion or cause to believe I had anything to do
with the crime. I had never been to my uncle’s house
and I do not believe that the police even had a DNA
sample from the scene of the crime.

Q162 Chairman: Mr Leighton, could you tell the
Committee briefly how the police came to take
your DNA?
Mr Leighton: A few years ago in Oxford there was a
protest involving a council development in the centre
of town which would have meant cutting down some
trees. A man climbed up one of the trees and made a
sit-in tree protest. I disagreed quite strongly with
how the council chose to deal with it because it
involved erecting a solid metal fence around the tree
he was in, putting in 24-hour security and basically
trying to stop anyone who sympathised with him
from giving him any food or water. He was in the tree
for about two weeks. I decided that I wanted to try
to help him by throwing him some water and I did
so. I called up to the tree and tried to throw a bottle

of water to him. Unfortunately, in the heat of the
moment or whatever it was not a very good throw
and fell to the ground. No sooner had I done it than
a police oYcer came running over to me and told me
I was under arrest. When I asked why he said it was
for littering. I found myself in a police cell for a few
hours. I had my DNA, fingerprints and photograph
taken—the works—and sat in a cell for three hours.
Then I was told that I was to be released without
charge.

Q163 Chairman: Mr Hands, have you attempted to
get your DNA oV the database? What process did
you use?
Mr Hands: I have undertaken quite an extensive and
unusual process, starting with letters to the chief
constable of West Midlands Police on at least two
occasions.

Q164 Chairman: What was the timeframe?
Mr Hands: The police came to see me on 25 April
2007. At the meeting I asked them to return my
sample on the assumption that I would be eliminated
from the inquiry. Because they did not have a DNA
sample from the scene of the crime I do not believe
they were able to eliminate me from the inquiry but,
to be fair, they wrote to me the day after the meeting
saying they would return the sample. I wrote to them
on 20 June 2008, 14 months later, asking for my
sample to be returned. On 24 June 2008 they said my
sample would be returned and my DNA sample
would be removed from the DNA database in due
course and that the murder investigation was
ongoing. I wrote again on 28 December 2008 to
remind them of their commitment to return the
sample and/or remove me from the database. It took
them two months to reply to that letter. They replied
on 18 February 2009. They then decided that they
would not remove my sample from the database
until the murder had been solved. At the inquest in
the spring of 2009 the police maintained that my
uncle had not been murdered after all and had died
in a freak accident; in other words, in their opinion
a crime had not been committed at all. I still could
not get my DNA sample back. Chairman, I think
you raised it directly with the Home Secretary on the
floor of the House of Commons in the early months
of 2009 She said she knew nothing about the case.
Finally, in an answer to a Written Parliamentary
Question on 3 June 2009 I was told that I was not on
the DNA database, but at no point have they said
when, whether or how I have been removed. Since
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that answer I have not heard any more from West
Midlands Police about how I came oV, whether I
was actually removed, whether my sample had been
sent somewhere et cetera.

Q165 Chairman: Mr Leighton, you are not a
Member of Parliament and so you cannot table a
Written Parliamentary Question about your case.
What process did you adopt to get your DNA oV the
database? Can you give actual or approximate
dates?
Mr Leighton: After my release from the police
station I took a week or so to evaluate what had
happened. I thought there was some value in
speaking to a solicitor about my arrest because I did
feel it was unlawful. The solicitor to whom I spoke
agreed to take on my case and started by writing to
the chief constable of Thames Valley Police with my
account of what had happened. They said they
would investigate the incident and it took about
three months for them to respond. They responded
by oVering me an out-of-court settlement for my
unlawful arrest which I accepted. Subsequent to that
my solicitor asked them to delete my DNA and
photographs.

Q166 Chairman: How long was that process?
Mr Leighton: I was arrested in early January 2008
and it was in about November 2008 that my DNA
was deleted.

Q167 Tom Brake: Mr Hands, do you believe the
police were justified in taking DNA from you at all
given you were clearly able to demonstrate that on
the day this was alleged to have happened you were
here and not there? In your view would they have
been justified if there was no DNA sample at the
scene? Why would they seek to obtain DNA from
you or anyone else for that matter?
Mr Hands: It was probably justified on the basis that
as far as I understand it 80% or so of murders are
committed by family members or close friends. They
did not have a DNA sample. In the event that, say, I
had died before they found a DNA sample at the
scene, which is improbable but just about possible,
then perhaps it could have been said that the police
had not eliminated Leslie Ince’s nephew. I did not
necessarily have a problem about the police taking
the sample; my problem was that there was no
attempt to try to decide whether I had anything to
do with the crime. The more obvious questions, for
example what was I doing on 21 February or
whether I had ever been to see my uncle or had ever
been in his home, were not asked and the less
obvious thing, namely the taking of my DNA
sample and fingerprints, was done. They also did the
same for most of my other relatives, including aunts
of mine who are in their eighties. The West Midlands
Police went round the country to places like
Bedford, Dartmouth, various parts of the West
Midlands and Amersham in Buckinghamshire to
collect DNA samples, including a sample from my
mother who is into her late seventies and quite badly
arthritic. The idea that she would be able to wield a
14-inch barbeque skewer through her brother-in-law

was, frankly, absurd. Nevertheless, they went round
to take a sample. There must have been considerable
expense involved in attempting to collect the
samples.

Q168 Tom Brake: Did you or any of your relatives
ever get an explanation as to why the police thought
it was necessary to take a DNA sample from a 70
year-old woman or man?
Mr Hands: I do not recall them explaining it,
although frankly I did not necessarily have a
problem with that aspect of the taking of DNA
samples. I do not believe they told me when they
came here that they did not have a sample from the
scene of the crime. If they had told me that I might
have asked a few more questions.

Q169 Tom Brake: Mr Leighton, what is your
position in relation to the DNA sample taken from
you? Is it that they should not have taken it from you
in the first place or that once they had decided not
to press any charges at that point they should have
deleted it?
Mr Leighton: Let me try to explain how it felt to be
in that situation. I had never been arrested before
and did not know anything about the process. It was
the first time I realised that the police take DNA
when somebody is arrested. When I was in the police
station and they were taking it they said I had no
choice and they would do it by force if I did not let
them do it. I did not have any information about
what they would do with it, how long and where they
would store it or how they would make sure it was
not leaked like all the things that have been left on
trains. That situation is quite surprising. After I was
released from the police station my sense was that
the whole thing should not have happened at all; I
should not have been arrested and it was unlawful
and so my DNA should not have been taken, but I
was very pleased when through my solicitor I was
able to get my DNA deleted. However, it was slightly
sad that I had to go to all that trouble to make a
proper legal claim against the police. As I
understand it, had I not followed the whole process
I would have had no chance of getting my DNA
deleted.

Q170 Mr Clappison: You said the arrest for littering
was unlawful. Was it unlawful because littering is not
an arrestable oVence? Is that what you were told?
Mr Leighton: I do not know specifically whether or
not it is a criminal oVence.

Q171 Mr Clappison: I would be surprised if it was an
arrestable oVence, so it sounds as if the whole thing
was unlawful from the beginning.
Mr Leighton: I agree. Even if it was an arrestable
oVence frankly I was not littering; I was trying to
throw somebody a bottle.
Chairman: Presumably, he did not catch it!

Q172 Bob Russell: As I understand the evidence
given so far, is it right that both of you have had your
DNA records removed?



Processed: 16-02-2010 17:14:30 Page Layout: COENEW [E] PPSysB Job: 442972 Unit: PAG2

Ev 22 Home Affairs Committee: Evidence

19 January 2010 Mr Greg Hands MP and Mr Jonathan Leighton

Mr Hands: Not necessarily. I have been told by the
government that I am not on the database. The West
Midlands Police have not told me anything. The
implication of the answer to the Written
Parliamentary Question is that I have been removed
because I have always been told that I have been put
on it by West Midlands Police. I do not think I can
say definitely that I have been removed because I
cannot say with 100% conviction that the
government believe I have ever been on it.

Q173 Bob Russell: Mr Leighton, your DNA has
been removed, and, Mr Hands, you could be in a
state of limbo in the sense of not knowing. Our
inquiry is on behalf of the many thousands of people
who have never been charged—no two situations are
identical—and whose approaches to chief constables
have not been successful. I put my next question to
Mr Hands who is a Member of Parliament. Is there
not a case for everyone’s DNA being on the
database?
Mr Hands: I think that is a reasonable case to make.
I do not agree with it, but I believe there is a case for
a compulsory national DNA database which has on
it only those who have been convicted of a crime.
The worst case is what appears to be the situation at
the moment. My connection with crime in general
and this event in particular is incredibly tangential.
In terms of how often I saw my uncle I am a fairly
distant relative of a victim of crime. I have never
been arrested for this crime; I have never even been
suspected of having committed it. You could hardly
get somebody further away from the crime than I
am, yet it has taken me considerable eVort using
means that are not available to most citizens of this
country to try to get straight answers as to why I am
on the database and to get oV it.

Q174 Bob Russell: Mr Leighton, would it be okay
with you if we were all on the DNA database?
Mr Leighton: Personally, I find that suggestion quite
scary. When everybody in the UK is part of a
massive database which the police can use to keep
tabs on us that is a scary prospect. I understand the
rationale behind that question which is an
interesting one. The most interesting thing about the
whole DNA issue is that it has never been properly
debated and it is a matter that is developing without
any clear policy about why or how it is growing.

Q175 Gwyn Prosser: Mr Hands, we have heard from
Mr Leighton that during his police interview he was
told it was a legal requirement to give a sample of
DNA. When you were interviewed by the police did
they tell you it was a legal requirement or did you
volunteer?
Mr Hands: I cannot remember, but the advice I was
given by a parliamentary colleague from the shadow
home aVairs team beforehand was that it would be
most unwise for me to refuse to give a sample. My
mother refused to give a sample and she was not
threatened with anything afterwards and obviously
was not taken to court. I thought on balance that it
would be better for me to give a sample. I did not
necessarily have a problem about giving a sample.

My problem is that I was on the database for a
considerable time afterwards despite the fact that
quite provably I had nothing to do with the crime.

Q176 Gwyn Prosser: I ask the question because last
May the government proposed that innocent
bystanders at the scene of a crime who voluntarily
gave their DNA would have those samples removed
from the database. You have paid a lot of attention
to this matter. To your knowledge has any progress
been made along those lines?
Mr Hands: I am afraid not. There was an inquest in
the spring of 2009 which returned an open verdict.
The police maintained at the inquest that it could
well have been an accident and the coroner returned
an open verdict. If anybody has information about
the murder of my uncle—the West Midlands Police
have otherwise conducted an exemplary inquiry into
the matter and our complaint is not there—please
give it to them.

Q177 Gwyn Prosser: I was talking in more general
terms. For instance, was there anything in the bill
debated yesterday which would give you any
comfort and allow for the automatic removal of
DNA from the database in your circumstances?
Mr Hands: I shadow Treasury which is a busy
portfolio and I have not had an opportunity to look
at what is in the bill. I know that Second Reading
took place yesterday, but I cannot answer your
question.

Q178 Gwyn Prosser: Do you make any
diVerentiation between the police holding your
profile and holding the actual DNA sample itself?
Are they equally damaging as far as you are
concerned?
Mr Hands: As far as I am concerned they equate to
the same thing. You will know the technical details
of how the sample then creates a profile. If one wants
to be oV the database one probably must have both
the sample and profile removed, but that is outside
my technical area of competence.

Q179 Gwyn Prosser: You have had an answer to the
Parliamentary Written Question which says that you
are no longer on the database. Have you followed it
up with a letter to the chief constable asking for
confirmation?
Mr Hands: I have not and I should have done. That
has been due to a shortage of time. Two weeks ago
the chief constable of West Midlands Police came
here to give evidence a transcript of which the
Chairman has kindly sent me. In answer to Q91 the
chief constable said he would be writing to me. He
has not written to me yet to explain what has
happened even though the Chairman asked him in a
series of fairly robust questions to get an answer to
the case.

Q180 David Davies: Mr Leighton, you said you were
very worried about being on the database, but if you
have a credit card, driving licence, bank account or
passport you are already on a database. Why does
this database make you so much more worried?



Processed: 16-02-2010 17:14:30 Page Layout: COENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 442972 Unit: PAG2

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 23

19 January 2010 Mr Greg Hands MP and Mr Jonathan Leighton

Mr Leighton: I cannot choose whether or not to be
on the DNA database and that is significant from the
perspective of freedom.

Q181 David Davies: Not really. It will be very
diYcult for you to go through life without a
passport, bank account or credit card.
Mr Leighton: My credit card is not going to convict
me. That sounds wrong; I am not trying to get away
with any crime. My credit card will not be used to try
to link me to things or investigate me.

Q182 David Davies: It could be. You have put your
finger on it: you are not going to commit crimes. I
would not think for one minute that you would
become a career criminal, so why are you so
concerned about it?
Mr Leighton: I am concerned about it because it is a
matter of liberty and in a free society I do not think
everybody’s DNA should be kept compulsorily on a
database.

Q183 Chairman: Mr Hands, there are
inconsistencies between the way in which the West
Midlands Police dealt with your case and the way the
Thames Valley Police dealt with Mr Leighton’s case.
Do you think there is an argument for having an
independent central organisation to deal with the
issue of removal of samples from the database? Is it
really the way the police have handled it, the process,
rather than necessarily the principle that concerns
you? In other words, Mr Leighton, if you had
received a speedy reply and the police had removed
it fairly quickly would you have been satisfied that
the process was working? Does the same go for you,
Mr Hands? You have been trying to do this for three

years and have not had a definitive reply. If there was
a central organisation to deal with it, not individual
chief constables, would that provide a better system
to manage these issues?
Mr Leighton: One matter to which I alluded earlier
was that it would be very helpful if there was a much
clearer process about what happens. When you are
arrested you are informed of your right to a solicitor;
you have a right to remain silent at interview et
cetera. I do not understand why no information is
provided about why the sample is being taken and
what you can do to get it removed if you are not to
be charged. A central organisation with some clear
codes of practice about how to deal with specific
cases would be helpful.

Q184 Chairman: Mr Hands?
Mr Hands: You are asking me to make a policy
judgment which I am slightly reluctant to do.

Q185 Chairman: I would like your opinion.
Mr Hands: My opinion is that the way the system
works at the moment is wrong. My response relates
to the answer I gave to Bob Russell earlier about the
way the database has been built up randomly, rather
stealthily in the case of my relatives and also quite
expensively. To send a police team around the UK to
collect samples from my aunt in Bedford who is
about 82 years of age and then next day to go to
Dartmouth in Devon seems to be a very expensive
way to build up the database. It is the inconsistency
in how it is collected more than necessarily who is in
charge of it that concerns me.
Chairman: Mr Hands and Mr Leighton, you have
been extremely helpful to the Committee in its
inquiry. Thank you very much for giving evidence
this morning.
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Witness: Professor Sir Alec JeVreys gave evidence.

Q186 Chairman: Good morning. I would refer
everyone present to the Register of Members’
Interests, where the interests of all Members are
registered. This is the third session of the
Committee’s inquiry into the DNA database. We
will be hearing later from the Minister for the Police,
David Hanson, and the Shadow Home Secretary,
Chris Grayling. We are delighted that our first
witness today is Sir Alec JeVreys. Sir Alec, welcome.
I declare my personal interest: obviously we are from
Leicester, and you have at some stage attempted to
take my DNA—I asked you to do this, to see how
your system worked—and of course you were given
the freedom of the City of Leicester—on my
birthday, by coincidence. Thank you for coming
here. Last May, you criticised the Government’s
proposals for retaining DNA on the database for up
to 12 years for those who have been unconvicted and
uncharged. In their latest proposals, the
Government have dropped that 12-year period and
suggested that DNA should be kept for a period of
six years. Do you still stand by your concerns about
the retention of DNA for unconvicted people?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I do indeed. Even six
years places England, Wales and Northern Ireland in
a unique situation in the world. There is no other
country of which I am aware in the world that would
keep the DNA of innocent people for that length of
time. Even Scotland does not. Scotland retains the
DNA of innocent people in the case of serious crime
for a period of three years, with an additional two
years after judicial review. The nearest I can find to
the England, Wales and Northern Ireland model is
New Zealand, which recently enacted legislation to
allow people to take DNA pre-charging. In terms of
retention, I have not been able to find out the details
there. Basically, no country is doing this other than
our own country.

Q187 Chairman: You, of course, invented techniques
for DNA fingerprinting in 1994. At that time, did
you envisage that one day there would be a database
with five million names, the largest in the world, as a
result of the work that you had done?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Absolutely not. If we roll
the clock back 25 years, if there had been a
suggestion then that I would be sitting here today
debating why it is that we have roughly a million UK
citizens, entirely innocent, residing on a database, I
would have been frankly astonished, perplexed and
deeply worried. And I still am deeply worried.
Chairman: Thank you.

Q188 Mr Winnick: Sir Alec, like the Chairman and
other colleagues, I am very grateful to you for
coming along today. The Minister of State is going to
give evidence to us later this morning. When he was
asked previously if he would have any objections to
having his DNA profile on the database for years,
his immediate response was that he would not object
in any way whatsoever. What about yourself? Would
you object if your DNA database was kept?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: If my DNA were to be
put on the database, I would object profoundly
against that. People have drawn analogies between
fingerprints and DNA. There are a lot of
fingerprints, obviously, held on databases. I would
argue that DNA is fundamentally diVerent. It is a
highly intimate sample. Admittedly, mouth swabs
taken during police investigations have been deemed
to be non-intimate, and that is a procedural issue,
but your DNA has incredibly intimate information
about you. It is about as intimate as you can get. It
carries information on who you are: your physical
appearance, your behaviour, your character, your
parentage, your ancestry, your disease liability. The
police are retaining physical DNA samples from
which, in theory, a lot of this information could be
extracted. I am not suggesting for one second that
they are doing that; I am saying the potential is there
in the future. Even if you look at the DNA profile
that is stored on the database, and that is the DNA
profile determined from a very limited number of
genetic characteristics, that still carries additional
information, in particular family information. That
is the whole basis for familial searching on the
database. What advantage is it to me, as, I hope, an
entirely blameless citizen, with no criminal record
and no criminal record in the future, to put my DNA
on that database? The best outcome would be that
my DNA would sit there cluttering up a fridge
somewhere, that my DNA profile would sit there
cluttering up a database somewhere. That is the best
I could hope for. The worst that could happen would
be if some glitch in the database gave a false match
to my DNA profile, bringing me into the frame of a
criminal investigation, which could have very
serious repercussions for me until that error was
solved, or, potentially, leading to the inculpation of
a close family relative; for example, a brother or a
sister, which again would have very serious ethical
issues within my family. That is pretty obvious. No,
I would not volunteer my DNA on to the database.

Q189 Mr Winnick: The argument may be from
ministers and others, and certainly from the police,
that if you have not done anything wrong, why
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worry? If you are innocent, so be it, there is no reason
to have concern. That is not my view necessarily. I
am putting, if you like, the view of those who do
want to store DNA on a database.
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I think I have given two
very good reasons why there is a risk to an individual
of having their DNA placed on the database. I have
a real fundamental concern here. I am not a lawyer,
but I have always understood that one of the great
foundations of English law was the presumption of
innocence. We are now seeing a sort of presumption
of “future possible guiltyishness, but currently you
may be sort of innocentish.” I find that a deeply
worrying shift in the whole ethos of how the legal
system operates.
Mr Winnick: A sentiment I share.

Q190 Tom Brake: Sir Alec, on the subject of false
matches, ministers, and, indeed, maybe the Minister
who is sitting in the audience at the moment, have
said that there is only one chance in a billion of a
false match. Do you recognise that figure?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I recognise it as a rather
gross approximation. The chance that your DNA is
currently in a profiling system that would match
mine is of the order of one part in ten trillion. Such
match frequencies are not given in court: they are
usually more conservative at one in a billion. That is,
to some extent, a meaningless number. First of all,
the one in ten trillion is about a million times less
likely than you winning the National Lottery—
okay?—but every week someone wins the National
Lottery. If we look at the lottery of the national
DNA database: you have five million players in
there, and you are running the Lottery tens of
thousands of times a year by doing searches across
it, so even matches down to the one in a trillion level
start becoming likely after that. More seriously,
there are not just unrelated people—I presume we
are unrelated—who knows?—DNA would tell us—
but there are close relatives, so that one in ten trillion
changes to round about one in 200,000 for brothers,
and there are certainly many, many instances of
brother pairs on that database. There is a risk of a
false match in there. It is remote but it is not zero. I
do have a very major concern: if there were one false
conviction based upon an adventitious DNA match,
the damage that could do to the public perception of
the DNA database could be very serious indeed.

Q191 Tom Brake: Are you aware of how the
probabilities of a mismatch will change. I
understand that in 2012 DNA databases across all,
potentially, European countries will be accessible, so
that there will be not just be the five million that you
are talking about but additionally people from other
European countries, on their DNA databases, where
presumably the probability of the potential for a
mismatch increases.
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: That is certainly true. I
know for a fact that that exchange of information is
already occurring. Interpol has a protocol called
Gateway. That is being done right now, and it allows
for exchange of information between European
databases. Yes, the bigger the database and the more

surveys or screens or trawls you do through that
database, the more and more likely it is of an
exceedingly rare match coming up. There is at least
one example of a completely adventitious but
complete match on record. That was in the early
days of the database, when there were only about
60% of the genetic characters being surveyed that are
characterised now. It led to an arrest, and it was only
at the insistence of the person who was the subject of
the accidental match, who got independent DNA
testing, that that false match was revealed.

Q192 Mr Streeter: You have explained that the
greater the database the more chance there is of a
mismatch. You have invented a new phrase this
morning, “future guiltyishness”, for which I
commend you. Do you think it would be fair if the
police did not just keep the samples from the people
they have arrested who turn out to be innocent but
if we were all on the database. How would you feel
about that? Would that be a better system than the
current system?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: It would be a much less
discriminatory system. I do not want to discuss the
issue of discrimination against certain classes of our
society, but it would get rid of issues of
discrimination. I personally would be very
uncomfortable with the idea that the police would
have such a database. My vision would be of a
parallel database, of essentially DNA as a personal
identity, so DNA identifiers for individuals. That
would allow the police to keep their criminal DNA
database and then one can image how those two
could possibly interface. Very, very interestingly, the
United Arab Emirates has agreed to go ahead with
mandatory databasing of the entire population—
and without any change in legislation, as far as I can
tell. They intend doing that over the next few years.
There is an experiment that is about to start which
will greatly merit a very careful watch, to see whether
it really does impact on criminal detection or
whether it is seen by the UAE society as much more
of a surveillance tool—which would be my worry, I
have to say.

Q193 Chairman: We are not going to visit Dubai to
check this. I am not familiar with the population of
the UAE.
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Five million.

Q194 Chairman: In fact the size of our current
database?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Yes.

Q195 Mrs Dean: We have heard that most cases in
which DNA evidence proved useful in identifying
perpetrators related to burglary. I know you have
said before that you could not see any advantage for
innocent people of keeping DNA, but do you accept
that burglary is deeply distressing for victims and
some erosion of privacy is acceptable in order to
convict burglars?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Burglary is certainly very
distressing. The impact of DNA on burglary
detection rates has gone up substantially but I think
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you will find that most instances of detection
through matches on the database are of repeat
oVenders. Yes, there may be an argument for
extending the database to innocent people, but what
I am not hearing is the balance between the ability to
detect more crimes—which is, in a way, a trivial
outcome of having more and more people on the
database—and the protection of the rights of
individual people perhaps not to be put on that
database. I would stress that going on to that
database is not emotionally neutral, in the way that
having a fingerprint on entering the US or whatever
is. Some people are entirely indiVerent to going on
the database; some people regard it as a rather cool
thing to go on the database; some people are mildly
concerned; some are deeply upset—and I have met
some of these people—and there is one recorded
instance of a suicide as a result of the shame that
person felt as an innocent individual by being put on
the database.
Mrs Dean: Thank you, Chairman.

Q196 Bob Russell: Are you suggesting that the
unhappiness, shall we say, of innocent people who
have their DNA on the police register should
outweigh the justice in those few cases where DNA
testing has found somebody who has committed a
crime in the past?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I am suggesting that a
balance be struck. What I am not hearing is any
representation of the rights of these innocent people
not to be subject to this sort of distress from the
perception of being branded as a criminal. That is
my real concern. As I say, putting huge numbers of
innocent people on the database will inevitably lead
to more crimes being solved. A very interesting
question is whether, if we took the one million
innocents oV now and replaced them with a million
people picked at random from the UK population,
the detection rate would be just as good. I have
absolutely no idea at all. Also, I have seen no
indication of how many of these cases that can be
expeditiously solved by matches against innocent
people on the database could be solved by other
more conventional police investigation routes.

Q197 Bob Russell: Surely the police would need
other information to support the evidence to bring
about a conviction. They would need more than just
a DNA match, would they not?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Certainly, yes. There is
no such thing as a conviction based solely on DNA
evidence. There is always a context, but that does not
change the fact that it may well be that these
innocent people placed on the database are being
used rather ineYciently to solve future crimes, and in
a way that goes against their civil rights, I would
argue.

Q198 Bob Russell: Following on from an earlier
question from somebody else about the familiarity
of DNA within a family, how does it narrow down if
it is twins, particularly identical twins?

Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: If you have an identical
twin, you have the ultimate alibi. That has happened
in a number of criminal cases.

Q199 Tom Brake: Sir Alec, how easy is it to falsify
DNA? I have been reading an article where a life
science company which specialises in forensic DNA
analysis claims that DNA evidence found at crime
scenes can easily be falsified using basic equipment,
know-how and access to DNA or a DNA database?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I am aware that this
evidence is in public, so I will be cautious in what I
say, but, yes, it has been well-known in the field for
well over a decade that a person reasonably expert in
the arcane sciences of molecular genetics, and
without a great deal of financial outlay, could
acquire DNA from a person, replicate it and place it
at the scene of a crime. But I would rather not say
any more than that.

Q200 Tom Brake: Clearly you have very strong
reservations about who goes on the DNA database,
but assuming that we have one, are there any
additional controls that you would like to see
introduced that you think would, if not do away with
all of your concerns, at least address some of them?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Yes, get rid of the
innocent people. It is as simple as that.

Q201 Tom Brake: If that measure were taken, you
would then be happy with the DNA database?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Yes. Let me make it plain
to this Committee, I am an enormous fan of the
DNA database. I think the original conception of an
intelligence tool and a tool for catching repeat
oVenders was a fantastic one. I think the UK should
be applauded for being the first country in the world
to launch this. The original concept was wonderful.
What I have seen over the years is this rather sinister
mission creep, which, certainly in terms of the
retention of innocent people’s DNA on the
database, has taken it away from that initial
wonderful vision and demonstrably very powerful
tool in the fight against crime into something that
threatens to undermine public confidence in this
wonderful creation of ours.

Q202 Tom Brake: Do you have any particular view
about the DNA of children who are perhaps not
innocent and whether their DNA should be retained
indefinitely?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: This again gives me
cause for concern. I do get a lot of correspondence,
given my position; for example, a letter from the
father of a 12-year-old who has been involved in a bit
of a brawl after school—and I am sure many of us
around this table have been in exactly the same
position. Of course what happens now is that they
are taken oV down the police station, they are DNA
swabbed and their DNA goes for a very lengthy
period on the national DNA database. To me that
seems disproportionate. I prefer the rather more old-
fashioned approach of giving that person a jolly
good ticking oV rather than branding them as a
potential future criminal. Children at school know
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about DNA. They are taught DNA profiling. They
are aware of the implications. They will see this
retention of DNA as something potentially sinister.
It would be very interesting to do a review and
survey of young juvenile attitudes to DNA
retention. My feeling is that it is heavy-handed and
disproportionate.

Q203 Chairman: As the person who, in eVect,
invented this course of genetics, you are quite clear
that the guilty ought to be on the database?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Unquestionably.

Q204 Chairman: Your concern is that the innocent,
the uncharged and the unconvicted should not be on
the database?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: That is absolutely
correct.

Q205 Chairman: I do not know whether in your very
busy day you have time to see films like Minority
Report in which oYcers think they know when
somebody is going to commit a crime. You are

saying that this is in fact what the database is when
they keep names of people who are innocent upon it,
that these are people who may in the future commit
but have not committed any crimes.
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: Yes. That comes back to
my point about “future guiltyishness.” What is the
evidence that the pool of a million people who have
been collected onto the database are enriched in
future criminal behaviour? I am not aware of any
evidence.

Q206 Chairman: You are pointing this Committee
towards Scotland as a model of what we should be
doing?
Professor Sir Alec JeVreys: I would be very content
to see us follow the Scottish model of retention only
in the case of serious crime and for a limited period
followed by judicial review. I think they have got it
right.
Chairman: Sir Alec JeVreys, thank you very much
for coming to give evidence today. This now
concludes our inquiry into the database. Thank you
so much.



Processed: 13-03-2010 16:33:29 Page Layout: COENEW [SE] PPSysB Job: 442972 Unit: PAG4

Ev 28 Home Affairs Committee: Evidence

Written evidence

Memorandum submitted by NuYeld Council on Bioethics

I am pleased to enclose a copy of the NuYeld Council on Bioethics report on The forensic use of
bioinformation: ethical issues (2007),1 which you may find useful for your inquiry on the National DNA
Database. The report was quoted substantially by the European Court of Human Rights in the S & Marper
judgment. Some of the key recommendations are highlighted below.

Retention of DNA Profiles

The report states that “there is, at present, a lack of convincing evidence that retention of profiles of those
not charged with or convicted of an oVence has had a significant impact on detection rates and hence it is
diYcult to argue that such retention can be justified. Accordingly we recommend that independent research
should be commissioned by the Home OYce to assess the impact of retention. In the light of the findings of
that research, an informed judgment could then be made”. (paragraph 4.53)

We note that the Home OYce has recently published evidence to support its proposal—which is to be
included in the Crime and Security Bill—to retain the DNA of all arrested but unconvicted people for six
years.2 Given the potential human rights implications of retaining the DNA of unconvicted people, we
would like to emphasise the importance of this evidence being carefully and independently examined. We
would urge the Committee to recommend that this takes place as a matter of urgency.

Other issues

In July 2009, the Council responded to the Home OYce consultation “Keeping the right people on the
DNA Database”. Some of its comments are relevant to your inquiry.

The Council welcomed some of the Government’s proposals, such as the pledge to destroy all DNA
samples. It had concerns about a number of the proposals and set out recommendations drawing on the
Council’s 2007 report. These included:

— There should be a statutory basis for the regulation of all aspects of the forensic use of DNA, with
specific powers of oversight delegated to an appropriate independent body or oYcial (paragraph
7.55).

— There should be a far greater commitment to openness and transparency and a greater availability
of documents to public scrutiny (paragraph 7.57).

— An independent body, along the lines of an administrative tribunal, should oversee requests from
individuals to have their profiles removed from bioinformation databases (paragraph 7.37).

A copy of the Council’s full response to the Home OYce is enclosed.

We would also like to bring to your attention the Council’s observation that the distinction between
recordable and non-recordable oVences is to some extent arbitrary (eg failing to give advance notice of a
procession is recordable, but obstruction of the highway is not). As the status of the oVence for which a
person is arrested aVects whether a DNA sample can be taken, we recommend that the list of recordable
oVences should be rationalised so as to exclude all minor, non-imprisonable oVences (paragraph 4.17).

References
1 NuYeld Council on Bioethics (2007) The forensic use of bioinformation: ethical issues. Available at:

www.nuYeldbioethics.org/forensic
2 Home OYce (2009) DNA retention policy: Re-arrest hazard rate analysis. Available at:

www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/

January 2010

Memorandum submitted by the Home OYce

When I gave evidence to the Committee on 5 January, Tom Bake asked whether there were any studies
of the cost-eVectiveness of the National DNA Database (NDNAD) as a tool to prevent and detect crime.
Having looked into this issue, we are not aware of any independent cost/benefit analysis ever being
commissioned on the eVectiveness of the NDNAD.

Information on the number of crimes that have been detected using DNA profiles, whether or not they
originated from samples taken from suspects who had previously been arrested but not charged with an
oVence, is not collected by the Home OYce. In any event, as Chief Constable Chris Sims said when he gave
evidence to you, detections are achieved through an integrated criminal investigation process and not by
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forensic science alone. However, some research information is available on the number of DNA profiles that
have resulted in a DNA match, providing the police with, at the very least, an intelligence link on the possible
identity of the oVender and assisting in the detection of crimes.

Since May 2001, 306,379 crime scene profiles have been identified, linking crime scene and subject profiles
generated by the NDNAD. Fo 226,393 of these crime scene-to-subject matches, a single subject was reported
as being linked to the crime scene(s) by their DNA. The identification of more than one potential suspect
can also occur, due to the crime scene profile being only a partial profile or due to the number of replicate
subject profiles held on the Database.

A significant number of these cases are unlikely ever to have been solved without the availability of DNA
crime scene evidence and a database against which to match the crime scene sample. In other cases, many
hours of labour intensive and costly investigation work is likely to have been required to reach the same
end result.

So while there is no independent empirical evidence as to the cost-eVectiveness of a national database of
DNA profiles, it is apparent that the availability of such information is essential in investigating some
oVences and gives a significant saving in the investigation of many others.

January 2009

Memorandum submitted by GeneWatch UK

GeneWatch UK is a not-for-profit organisation which aims to ensure that genetics is used in the public
interest. The organisation began investigating the issues associated with the expansion of the National DNA
Database in 2003 and we published the first report about the database in January 2005.1 Since then, we
have responded to every consultation on this issue, published articles, and supplied written and/or oral
evidence to numerous committees, including to the Scottish Parliament’s Justice 2 Committee in 2006, and
to the European Court of Human Rights on behalf of S. and Marper. We created a “Reclaim your DNA”
section of our website (www.genewatch.org) in 2006 and a new website jointly with other organisations in
2009 (www.reclaimyourdna.org).

GeneWatch has consistently argued that new legislation governing the DNA Database could be adopted
which significantly improves protection for human rights, is compliant with the European Court of Human
Rights’ judgment on this issue, regains much of the loss of public trust in policing, and does not have an
adverse impact on crime detection or prevention.

This is possible because Home OYce figures suggest that expanding the Database to include DNA profiles
from more individuals has not helped to solve more crimes. Collecting DNA is often very useful during a
criminal investigation, but storing DNA profiles from hundreds of thousands of innocent people has made
a minimal contribution to solved crimes.

The relevant evidence is explained below. Numerous errors in the evidence provided to you by the police
and minister are corrected.

Background: How the DNA Database Works

It is important to distinguish clearly between the role of DNA in a specific criminal investigation and the
role of the DNA Database. DNA databases are not required to provide evidence of guilt or innocence when
there is a known group of suspects for a crime—a DNA sample can be taken from each individual and the
DNA profile (a string of numbers based on specific areas of each individual’s DNA) can be compared
directly with a crime scene profile. There is little cause for concern in using DNA samples in this way and
there can be significant benefits to criminal investigations. In practice, these comparisons are made using the
Database—by entering both the crime scene profile and the suspect’s profile on it. However, looking for a
DNA match for a known group of suspects for a specific crime does not require a database: in particular it
does not require DNA profiles to be retained after an investigation is complete.

The retention of DNA profiles and samples taken from crime scenes on the Database can readily be
justified because they might be useful if an investigation needs to be re-opened in the future (either to convict
a perpetrator, or to exonerate an innocent person). The human rights concerns relate to the widening of the
group of individuals (not crime scene samples) from whom DNA can be taken and then retained on the
database. This is because:

— DNA can be used to track individuals or their relatives, so the Database could be misused by
Governments or anyone who can infiltrate the system;

— DNA records are linked to Police National Computer records of arrest, which can be used to refuse
someone a visa or a job, or lead to them being treated diVerently by the police; and

— DNA is not foolproof, so people on the Database can be falsely implicated in a crime.

1 GeneWatch UK (2005) The police National DNA Database: Balancing crime detection, human rights and privacy.
GeneWatch UK. January 2005. http://www.genewatch.org/HumanGen/Publications/Reports/NationalDNADatabase.pdf
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The purpose of entering an individual’s DNA profile on the Database is to see if they are a potential
suspect for a past crime. This may include a crime they have been arrested on suspicion of committing, if
DNA evidence has been collected from that crime scene, although this type of comparison does not require
a database. However, the search will also include any unsolved crime for which a DNA profile is stored from
any past crime scene. Because DNA is taken from only a small proportion of crime scenes, and for only some
types of oVences, in most cases the DNA taken from an individual on arrest is only relevant to other past
crimes, not to the oVence for which they have been arrested. The value of the database is in providing “cold
hits” (unanticipated matches between a crime scene DNA profile and an individual’s DNA profile), which
use the Database to introduce a new suspect into an investigation. The purpose of entering increasing
numbers of DNA profiles on the Database (unrelated to the reason for arrest) is that it may allow
investigation of a past crime to be re-opened, by identifying a new suspect.

The purpose of retaining an individual’s DNA profile on a database is to treat them as a suspect for any
future crime. This is arguably likely to be of most benefit when an individual has a record as a “career
criminal” and is considered likely to re-oVend (or, perhaps, to be deterred from re-oVending by the retention
of their profile).

Although DNA can undoubtedly be useful to exonerate the innocent, a database of individual DNA
profiles (as opposed to crime scene profiles) is never necessary to exonerate an innocent person, since this
can always be done by comparing the DNA profile of the innocent suspect directly with the crime scene
DNA profile. The “added value” of putting individuals on the Database is only to introduce new suspects
into a past or future investigation, not to exonerate the innocent. This depends on the number of “cold hits”
(unanticipated DNA matches) and the extent to which these matches lead to successful prosecutions.

Number of Solved Crimes

Chief Constable Sims, of the Association of Chief Police OYcers (ACPO), stated in evidence to you that
33,000 crimes (0.67% of recorded crimes) had been solved last year “solely or largely by the DNA database”.
This claim was reiterated by the minister. This claim is incorrect: it is a significant overestimate of the number
of solved crimes.

We presume that Chief Constable Sims was referring to the 31,915 DNA detections (17,463 direct
detections, and 14,452 indirect detections) recorded in 2008–09 (see Table 1). Direct detections are detections
in which a DNA match is involved. Indirect detections are additional crimes that may be detected following
the match (for example, if the suspect then confesses to more crimes).

The first problem with the ACPO claim is that these are detections not convictions. Detections are crimes
considered to have been “cleared up” by the police, usually because someone has been prosecuted. They are
not solved crimes. There are no figures on crimes solved using DNA. However, the Home OYce has
estimated in the past that some 50% of detections lead to convictions and some 25% lead to a custodial
sentence.2

The second problem with the Chief Constable’s claim is that DNA detections are not detections achieved
“solely or largely” through the use of the DNA database.

Direct DNA detections are of three types:

1. Detections where the suspect was first identified by other means and whose DNA matches the
crime scene DNA available for the oVence for which he/she was arrested.

2. Detections where the suspect’s DNA profile is loaded to the NDNAD and makes a “cold hit” with
a stored crime scene DNA profile, as a result of a speculative search against all crime scenes other
than that for which they have been arrested, and where suYcient other evidence exists to prosecute
him/her for the crime.

3. Detections where a crime scene DNA profile is loaded and makes a “cold hit” with a stored
individual’s DNA profile, and where suYcient additional evidence exists to prosecute that
individual for the crime.

The first type of DNA detection does not require a database, since DNA can be taken directly from the
individual who is suspected of committing the oVence, and the second type requires only a database of stored
crime scene DNA profiles. Only the third type of DNA detection represents those detections that would be
lost or delayed if a DNA database of individuals’ DNA profiles did not exist. (Nobody objects to the
indefinite retention of crime scene DNA profiles on a database).

No figures are available for the breakdown of DNA detections into these three types. As far as we aware,
the only available estimate for the proportion of “cold hit” detections comes from a research exercise carried
out in 2002–03, reported in the Home OYce’s 2006 report on the DNA Expansion Programme.3 The study
followed 620 cases involving DNA matches and found that in 58% of all detected cases, the DNA match
was the first link to the oVender. Assuming these cases are representative and that this percentage has not

2 The National DNA Database Annual Report 2002–03. (p26).
http://www.forensic.gov.uk/forensic/news/press releases/2003/NDNAD Annual Report 02-03.pdf.

3 Home OYce (2006) DNA Expansion Programme 2000–05: Reporting achievement. Forensic Science and Pathology Unit.
http://police.homeoYce.gov.uk/news-and-publications/publication/operational-policing/DNAExpansion.pdf
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changed, we can estimate that 42% of the 17,462 direct DNA detections recorded in 2006–07 were “known
suspect” detections (7,334 DNA detections) and 58% were “cold hit” detections (10,128). It should be noted
that here is considerable uncertainty in this split due to the lack of an up-to-date and reliable figure on the
proportion of cold hits (matches where the individual had not been previously identified as a suspect for that
crime before their DNA was taken).
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Table 1

DNA DETECTIONS 1998–99 TO 2008–09

1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01 2001–02 2002–03 2003–04 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09

Number of DNA profiles stored from
individuals* 517,000 737,000 1,186,000 1,695,000 2,099,964 2,527,728 3,085,766 3,785,571 4,428,376 5,056,740 5,607,614
Direct DNA detections 6,151 8,612 14,785 15,894 21,098 20,489 19,873 20,349 19,949 17,614 17,463
Recorded crimes 5,109,089 5,301,187 5,170,843 5,525,024 5,974,960 6,013,579 5,637,511 5,555,174 5,427,559 4,950,671 4,703,800
% of recorded crimes detected involving
a DNA match (direct DNA detections) 0.12 0.16 0.29 0.29 0.35 0.34 0.35 0.37 0.37 0.36 0.37
Indirect detectionsM N/A N/A N/A 6,509 12,717 15,899 15,732 19,960 21,199 15,420 14,452
% of recorded crimes with direct or
indirect detection N/A N/A N/A 0.41 0.57 0.61 0.63 0.73 0.76 0.67 0.68
Crime scene DNA profiles added per
year 11,951 16,844 27,104 40,296 61,431 60,226 59,247 68,774 55,217 50,579 49,572
Individuals’ DNA profiles loaded per
year 243,199 213,075 389,951 501,212 488,519 475,297 521,118 715,145 722,476 591,028 580,174
Direct detections per crime scene DNA
sample loaded 0.51 0.51 0.55 0.39 0.34 0.34 0.34 0.30 0.36 0.35 0.35

* Note that the number of individuals with records on the DNA Database is lower than this, since 10% to 13.7% of the records are replicates (this percentage varies in
diVerent years).

M Indirect detections occur if eg the suspect confesses to additional crimes.
N/A % Not available
Note: A very small number of additional DNA detections may not be included in the figures: these are detections involving a match with a volunteer’s DNA profile in
circumstances where the volunteer has given consent for their sample to be used in a specific investigation only and refused permission for it to be loaded to the database.
Everyone who is arrested for a recordable oVence in England, Wales and Northern Ireland now has their DNA profile added to the Database as a matter of routine.
Sources: National DNA Database Annual reports since 2002–03. Earlier detections from Hansard 10 Sep 2008 : Column 1866W.4 Recorded crimes from Home OYce
reports.

4 Available on: http:www.parliament.the-stationery-oYce.com/pas/cm200708/cmhansrd/cm080910/text/080910w0018.htm
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Of these 10,128 “cold hit” detections, some will be of the second type listed above (a loaded suspect’s
profile matching a stored crime scene profile) and some will be of the third type (a loaded crime scene profile
matching a stored suspect’s profile). Only the latter detections would be lost or delayed if a DNA database
of individuals’ profiles did not exist. The recent Home OYce consultation (Annex D, p 65)4 gave a 1.4%
probability that a subject is matched to the DNA database for a crime other than that for which they were
arrested. According to the National DNA Database Annual Report 2007–09,5 580,174 individuals’ DNA
profiles were loaded to the database in 2008–09. This suggests that 8,122 direct DNA detections in 2008–09
(1.4% of the number of individuals’ DNA profiles loaded) followed from “cold hits” between loaded
individuals’ profiles and stored crime scene DNA profiles. Again this is an estimate, based on the 1.4%
probability cited by the Home OYce, which may vary from year to year. The remaining 2006 direct DNA
detections (10,128 “cold hit” detections, minus the 8,122 made when the individual’s profile was loaded,
rather than as a result of it being stored) are of the third type listed above—ie they involve matches between
a loaded crime scene DNA profile and a stored individual’s profile and did rely on the existence of a DNA
database of individuals’ profiles. These detections may be associated with additional indirect DNA
detections (for example, if the suspect confesses to further crimes). There would be an estimated 1,660
indirect DNA detections, if the ratio of indirect to direct DNA detections is the same however the match is
made, giving 3,666 detections in total.

Thus we can estimate that, in 2008–09, 2,006 direct DNA detections and 1,660 indirect detections might
have been lost or delayed if a DNA database of individuals’ profiles did not exist at all. Using the Home
OYce figure cited above, about half of these detections (1,883) could be expected to lead to convictions. This
is 0.033% of recorded crimes (Table 1), more than an order of magnitude lower than the figure provided to
you by ACPO. Moreover, a high proportion of these crimes would be solved later rather than not solved at
all because, provided the crime scene DNA profile is still stored, the same individual’s profile could be
matched later if they are arrested or charged on suspicion of committing another future crime. It should be
noted that the vast majority of these will be volume crimes such as burglary and theft (discussed further
below).

Solved Crimes Due to Retaining Innocent People’s DNA Profiles

The number of DNA detections that would be lost or delayed if innocent people’s DNA profiles were
removed from the Database is obviously only a fraction of the estimated 3,666 detections (2,006 direct and
1,660 indirect) that would have been lost or delayed in 2008–09 if a computer database of individuals’ DNA
profiles did not exist at all.

At 24 April 2009, there were an estimated 986,185 persons with records on the National DNA Database
with no record of conviction, caution, reprimand or final warning on the Police National Computer (PNC).
This is 21% of an estimated of 4,587,430 persons in total (note, this is lower than the number of profiles
indicated in Table 1, because some of the profiles are replicates from the same person).6 Persons with no
record of caution, conviction, reprimand or final warning on the PNC will include some persons awaiting
trial and others with an old (pre-2000) caution from the days when records of cautions were still weeded
from the PNC, but the majority will be innocent of any oVence.

If DNA profiles retained from innocent people were equally likely to be involved in a DNA detection
compared to DNA profiles retained from persons convicted of an oVence, we would expect about 21% of
the lost or delayed detections to arise if only innocent people were removed from the Database: this would
give an estimate of 431 direct detections and 357 indirect detections. However, we know that the correct
number must be less than this because most oVences are committed by people with previous convictions
(and a large proportion by a small number of repeat oVenders). In 2007 (the latest year for which figures
appear to be available), 12% of oVenders had no previous conviction or caution, compared to 25% who had
15.7 Unfortunately, this still does not provide us with enough information to work out the number of DNA
detections which relate to profiles from innocent people. However, if stored DNA profiles from innocent
people were half as likely as stored DNA profiles from convicted people to be involved in a DNA detection,
we would expect 216 direct detections and 178 indirect detections to be lost or delayed if innocent people
were removed from the DNA Database. This is equivalent to only about 200 convictions in total (half the
number of detections). Graphs provided by the Home OYce in the consultation documents (Annex D, p
88) suggest that the likelihood of that a member of the general population receives a conviction or caution
in a given year is about 2%, compared to about a 28% likelihood of reconviction/caution for oVenders in
their first year after arrest. If stored DNA profiles from innocent people were 10 times less likely than stored
DNA profiles from convicted people to be involved in a DNA detection, we would expect 43 direct
detections and 36 indirect detections to be lost or delayed if innocent people were removed from the DNA
Database. This is equivalent to only about 40 convictions in total.

4 Available on: http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/
5 National DNA Database Annual Report 2007-09. http://www.npia.police.uk/en/docs/NDNAD07-09-LR.pdf
6 House of Commons Hansard 2 Jun 2009: Col 360W.
7 Ministry of Justice (2009) Sentencing statistics,2007: England and Wales. Revised Edition published 26 June 2009.

http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/docs/sentencing-statistics-2007-revised.pdf
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We can therefore estimate that somewhere between 40 and 200 convictions may have resulted from the
retention of DNA profiles from innocent people in 2008–09. It should be stressed that this is very much an
estimate, due to uncertainty in the figures provided by the Home OYce and gaps in information. Most of
these convictions would relate to volume crimes (only 1% of DNA detections relate to rapes and 0.4% to
murder/manslaughter, see below) and most detections would be delayed rather than lost because, provided
the crime scene DNA profile is stored, the DNA match will occur if the individual is arrested or charged
with another oVence in the future. This figure includes both direct and indirect detections.

In its consultation “Keeping the Right People on the DNA Database”, the Home OYce provided
estimates of “lost” detections due to removing unconvicted persons from the database, as part of its Impact
Assessment.8 However, the model used to calculate these lost detections is substantially in error due to the
failure to account for the diVerent types of detections cited above, and the erroneous assumption that
persons arrested but not convicted are as likely to commit crimes as those convicted of an oVence (based on
the widely criticised research by the Jill Dando Institute, see below). It is diYcult to give a more reliable
estimate without access to more data and without developing our own model of the database, but
GeneWatch’s preliminary estimate is that the Home OYce’s calculations could be up to two orders of
magnitude in error.9, 10, 11

Impact of Changes in Legislation on DNA Detections

The figures provided in Table 1 show how the number of DNA detections has changed with time.

The Criminal Justice Act 2003, which allowed the collection of DNA on arrest rather than charge, came
into force in April 2004. As Table 1 shows, the number of crimes detected involving a DNA match has fallen
since this time (note that the total direct detections include all three types, as described above, but that an
increase in “cold hits” should still increase the total). The Home OYce has sometimes argued that this is
because the total number of recorded crimes has also fallen. But the percentage of recorded crimes involving
direct DNA detections has remained roughly constant since 2002–03. Thus, the Table clearly shows that
there has been no noticeable increase in crimes detected using DNA since the Act came into force.

The Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 was adopted in May 2001. It allowed DNA profiles (at that
time, collected on charge) to be retained indefinitely if a person was acquitted or charges dropped. It was
also applied retrospectively to the estimated 50,000 innocent individuals’ DNA profiles retained illegally at
that time. As a result of the later decision to collect DNA on arrest, the DNA profiles of persons arrested but
not charged have also been retained indefinitely since April 2004. The number of DNA detections increased
somewhat during the year following the adoption of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 (there were
14,785 direct DNA detections in 2000–01, 15,894 in 2001–02, and 21,098 in 2002–03, see Table 1), before
they began to fall. However, it would be a mistake to attribute this increase to the retention of innocent
people’s DNA profiles, because a significant increase in the number of crime scene DNA profiles was also
taking place (see Table 1). It is this increase (resulting from a policy decision to collect more DNA from
volume crime scenes such as burglary and theft) which peaked in 2002–03, explaining why there has been
no subsequent increase in DNA detections. In its 2006 assessment of the DNA Expansion Programme, the
Home OYce confirms this when it states (paragraph 32, page 10)12: “Evaluation of the Programme has
shown that the number of matches obtained from the Database (and the likelihood of identifying the person
who committed the crime) is ‘driven’ primarily by the number of crime scene profiles loaded onto the
Database” [Emphasis added].

Thus, the available data allows us to conclude that neither the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001, nor
the Criminal Justice Act 2003 have led to a noticeable increase in the number of crimes detected using DNA,
despite a massive increase in the number of individuals’ DNA profiles that have been collected and retained.
In contrast, the policy decision to collect DNA from scenes of volume crimes, such as burglaries and thefts,
has been successful. This is because the number of crimes detected is driven primarily by the number of crime
scene DNA profiles loaded, not the number of individuals’ profiles loaded or retained.

GeneWatch first conducted an analysis along these lines in 2006.13 We sent this analysis to members of
the Scottish Parliament and to the Home OYce Minister then responsible for the DNA Database, Andy
Burnham. In a letter to us on 15 March 2006, Mr Burnham stated: “You raise important points about
understanding the impact of DNA. The interpretation of statistics in the context of the processes which they
represent is vital and your analysis of that set of crimes for which DNA provided a first link to the suspect is
sound. These crimes are not the only ones in which DNA plays a useful contribution however. Despite the

8 Available on: http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/
9 GeneWatch UK and Open Rights Group. Submission to the Home OYce’s Consultation: Keeping the Right People on the

DNA Database. August 2009.
On: http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/DNAconsul GW.doc

10 GeneWatch UK. Annex to submission to the Home OYce consultation. August 2009.
On: http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/ANNEX.doc

11 GeneWatch UK. Erratum to DNA consultation submission. August 2010.
http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/ERRATUM.doc

12 Home OYce (2006) DNA Expansion Programme 2000-2005: Reporting achievement. Forensic Science and Pathology Unit.
http://police.homeoYce.gov.uk/news-and-publications/publication/operational-policing/DNAExpansion.pdf.

13 GeneWatch UK (2006) The DNA Expansion Programme: Reporting real achievement? February 2006.
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apparent ‘losses’ through the investigative process that you note, the presence of DNA can have additional
benefits not represented in the statistics, such as reducing the time of investigation, stopping oVenders earlier
in their criminal careers and reducing subsequent court time”. [Emphasis added].

The NuYeld Council on Bioethics subsequently drew attention to similar issues in its report “The forensic
use of bioinformation: ethical issues”,14 noting (paragraph 5.52) that: “. . . There is very limited evidence
indeed that the retention regime of England and Wales is eVective in significantly improving detection
rates . . .”.

Role in Volume Crimes and Breakdown by Crime Type

Chief Constable Sims stated that 40% of burglaries were solved using DNA. This is incorrect.

The percentage of recorded domestic burglaries involving a direct DNA detection in 2008–09 was 1.3%,
as shown in Table 2.

Table 2

DNA MATCHES AND DETECTIONS BY CRIME TYPE 2008–0915, 16

Detections of Percentage of
Crimes with a crimes in which a Percentage of DNA detections

DNA scene- DNA match was total DNA Total recorded per recorded
subject match available detections crimes crime

All other recorded crime 3,699 1,506 8.62 799,457 0.19

Criminal damage 5,149 2,886 16.53 936,729 0.31

Domestic burglary 8,188 3,702 21.20 284,445 1.30

Drugs oVences 1,110 397 2.27 242,907 0.16

HomicideM 252 70 0.40 648 10.80

Other burglary 7,110 3,830 21.93 296,952 1.29

Other sex oVences** 175 106 0.61 38,355 0.28

Other violent oVences* 1,819 861 4.93 903,345 0.10

RapeL 580 168 0.96 13,133 1.28

Robbery 1,462 603 3.45 80,104 0.75

Theft from vehicle 3,484 2,036 11.66 969,990 0.21

Theft of vehicle 3,699 1,298 7.43 137,749 0.94

Total 36,727 17,463 100 4,703,814 0.37

M Murder plus manslaughter and infanticide
L Total recorded rape of a female plus rape of a male.
* Total recorded violence against the person oVences, minus recorded homicide oVences.

** Total sexual oVences, minus recorded rapes (male plus female).

Since about half of these detections are expected to lead to a conviction, only 0.65% of burglaries are likely
to be solved using DNA (ie to be cases involving a DNA match). As explained above, the number of
burglaries solved as a result of keeping individuals’ DNA profiles on a Database will be only a fraction of
these: those where the DNA match was the first link to the oVender and where the oVender was already on
the database (rather than being added after the crime scene profile was on the database). Above, we found
that out of 17,463 direct detections, about 2006 were of this type (11.5%). According to Table 2, 21.2% of
direct DNA detections in 2008–09 were for domestic burglary and 21.93% for other burglary. This suggests
that only an estimated 865 burglaries involved direct detections as a result of keeping individuals’ DNA
profiles on the Database, corresponding to about 433 convictions. The number of burglaries solved due to
keeping innocent people’s DNA profiles will be a small fraction of these.

We presume Chief Constable Sims was mistakenly citing the detections per crime scene DNA profile
loaded (the DNA detection rate), which for burglary was 41% in 2004–05.

The overall detection rate for burglary (detected crime/recorded crime) in the same year was 26%, thus
clearly showing that a burglary is more likely to be detected if DNA is found at the crime scene. Again, this
demonstrates the value of the policy decision to collect more DNA from volume crime scenes, but it provides
no information regarding the extent to which the collection and retention of DNA profiles from diVerent
categories of individuals as been useful. Re-oVending rates for burglary are high and in 2007 only 5% of
those convicted of burglary were first time oVenders.17 This tends to suggest that the high probability of a
match when a crime scene DNA profile from a burglary is loaded to the Database is because it contains the
DNA profiles of convicted past oVenders.

14 NuYeld Council on Bioethics Report: The forensic use of bioinformation: ethical issues.
http://www.nuYeldbioethics.org/go/ourwork/bioinformationuse/introduction

15 National DNA Database Annual Report 2007-09. http://www.npia.police.uk/en/docs/NDNAD07-09-LR.pdf
16 Home OYce (2009) http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/rds/pdfs09/hosb1109vol1.pdf
17 Ministry of Justice (2009) Sentencing statistics,2007: England and Wales. Revised Edition published 26 June 2009.

http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/docs/sentencing-statistics-2007-revised.pdf
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Role in Murder and Rape

In his evidence, Chief Constable Sims claimed that 83 murders and 163 rapes had been solved in 2008–09
by the DNA database. He also stated that the DNA database plays a much more significant part in solving
serious crimes than it does in volume crimes. Both claims are incorrect.

The Chief Constable appears to be citing the number of serious crimes involving a direct DNA detection
in 2007–08 (83 homicides and 184 rapes). The figures for 2008–09 are shown in Table 2 (when direct DNA
detections occurred in 70 homicides and 168 rapes). These figures are detections not convictions and, as
explained above, only some of them will have required the existence of a DNA database of individuals’
DNA profiles.

In terms of total numbers of crimes, Table 2 highlights the very small proportion of DNA detections that
relate to homicide and rape (0.4% of the total DNA detections in 2008–09 related to homicide and 0.96%
to rape). Using our estimate of 40 to 200 solved crimes due to the retention of innocent people’s DNA
(above), this would suggest that—including indirect detections (where the perpetrator confessed to the
homicide or rape following a match to another crime)—something between one rape every six months to
two years, and one homicide every one to five years might be solved due to retaining innocent people’s DNA
profiles. However, this is likely to be an overestimate, due to the evidence that the Database is in fact less
eVective at solving murders and rapes than volume crimes. Firstly, the proportion of cold hits can be
expected to be less because murder and rape victims are likely to be known to their victims18, 19 and thus
the DNA is more likely to be taken from a known suspect than for other crimes (rather then requiring the
suspect’s profile to be on the database). Secondly, for rape, the ratio of detections to convictions is likely to
be less. This is because DNA does not help to resolve disputes about consent, it only helps to establish the
identity of the suspect. Proving the absence of consent is usually the most diYcult part of a rape prosecution,
and is the most common reason for a rape case to fail.20 Finally, for murder cases, it is also often the victim’s
DNA rather than the perpetrator’s that provides the crucial evidence (for example, by their blood being
found on the clothing of the suspect, or in their house or car). It is not usually diYcult to obtain the victim’s
DNA: this does not require a database.

In its evaluation of the DNA Expansion Programme21 (page 16), the Home OYce explains: “DNA is
proving to be most helpful in those crimes that are more diYcult to detect, eg domestic burglary. Although
it makes a relatively small contribution to all detections, it makes a powerful contribution to those cases in
which it is available. The DNA detection rates for volume crime show striking increases—while the overall
domestic burglary detection rate was 16%, the rate where DNA is available rises to 41%” [based on 2004–05
data] and “DNA has been shown to be of crucial importance in that subset of crimes where suspect identity
is not immediately apparent, eg burglary and vehicle crime”.

Numerous Members of Parliament have sought information on the numbers of crimes that have been
detected or solved as a result of the retention of unconvicted persons on the National DNA Database, by
asking Parliamentary Questions. In each case, ministers have replied that this information is not
available.22 Calls for the Government to undertake or commission an assessment of the benefits of retention
of DNA profiles from unconvicted persons have been made by academic researchers, GeneWatch UK, the
House of Commons Science and Technology Committee and the NuYeld Council on Bioethics, all of whom
have questioned the benefits of the Government’s approach. No such assessment has been made. In 2005,
the Police Liaison OYcer for the Scottish DNA Database stated: “It is arguable that the general retention
of profiles from the un-convicted has not been shown to significantly enhance criminal intelligence or
detection”23 and in 2006, the Justice 2 Committee of the Scottish Parliament sought further information
regarding the benefits of DNA retention from unconvicted persons from the police. They were provided with
only speculative cases.

GeneWatch UK has been unable to identify any murders that have been solved as a result of the retention
of innocent people’s DNA profiles since 2001. We have examined every Parliamentary Question on DNA
since 2005, all published reports, and the Government’s evidence to the European Court of Human Rights.
A figure of zero solved murders to date as a result of retaining innocent people’s DNA profiles is consistent
with our statistical analysis.

In total, five rape cases have been cited by the police as having been solved due to the retention of an
innocent person’s DNA profile (these are described further below in the section on Scotland’s legislation).
One of these was a cold case which could have been solved more rapidly if old crime scene DNA evidence

18 Home OYce (2009) Homicides, Firearm OVences and Intimate Violence 2007–08.
http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/rds/pdfs09/hosb0209.pdf

19 Crown Prosecution Service (2008) Violence against women: Strategy and Action Plans.
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/vaw strategy english.pdf

20 Crown Prosecution Service (2009) Violence against women crime report 2008–09.
http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/docs/CPS VAW report 2009.pdf

21 Home OYce (2006) DNA Expansion Programme 2000-2005: Reporting achievement. Forensic Science and Pathology Unit.
http://police.homeoYce.gov.uk/news-and-publications/publication/operational-policing/DNAExpansion.pdf.

22 For example, in: House of Commons Hansard 1 Mar 2006 : Column 842W; 14 Dec 2006, Column 1315W; 25 July 2007,
Column 1172W, 12 Jan 2010 Col 848W.

23 Ross T (2005) Police retention of prints and samples: proposals for legislation. Comment prepared by Thomas Ross, Police
Liason OYcer/OYce Manager, Scottish Police DNA Database.
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/77843/0018258.pdf.
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from serious cases was analysed more promptly (this is also explained below, in the section on cold cases).
The other cases may be addressed by a targeted approach, similar to Scotland’s legislation. Our statistical
analysis suggests that these are probably the total number of solved rapes that involved the retention of an
innocent person’s DNA profile, not a subset of a much larger number of crimes. It seems likely that
considerably more crimes involving violence against women could be prevented or solved if the money spent
on expanding the DNA database was spent diVerently (see the section on costs, below).

Misleading Claims about the Figures for Murders and Rapes

A long series of misleading claims have been made by ministers, including the Prime Minister, about the
number of murders and rapes solved due to retaining innocent people’s DNA profiles on the Database.

In 2006, the Association of Chief Police OYcers in Scotland (ACPOS) claimed that 88 murders had been
solved as a result of retaining innocent people’s DNA in England and Wales. Similar claims have been made
by ministers on multiple occassions.24 In his 2008 speech on “Security and Liberty”, the Prime Minister
claimed that 114 murderers would “in all probability have got away” had the law not been changed to retain
innocent people’s DNA. These claims are demonstrably false. The main problem with them is the conflation
of matches between individuals’ DNA profiles and crime scene DNA profiles with actual solved crimes.
Matches are not detections and (as explained above) detections are not convictions. The Committee may
wish to read our history of these claims in full.25 The Home OYce’s interesting response to this briefing, in
which we highlighted that the Prime Minister’s claim as false (and known by the Home OYce to be so), was:
“I think in this case we’ll have to let the Prime Minister’s words speak for themselves. The figures he quoted
were publicly available from 2006.”26

On 25 June 2008, the then minister Tony McNulty referred, in evidence to the House of Lords
Constitution Committee to: “. . . the litany of rapists, killers, child abusers who nominally on anybody’s
definition would fall into your innocent category, ie they have encountered the criminal justice system but
the case has not been pursued against them, only for in some cases 15–20 years later horrendous crimes to
be laid at that individual’s door purely because of the individual’s DNA sample being on the database”.

The minister appears to have confused the retention of individuals’ DNA profiles on the Database with
the re-analysis of old crime scene evidence carried out during cold case reviews (discussed further below).
As noted above, no cases of solved murders have ever been cited which relied on the retention of innocent
people’s DNA.

A new study of matches in homicide and rape cases during 2008–09 was carried out by ACPO last year.27

GeneWatch has requested but not yet obtained a copy of this report. However, the study again appears
report only matches, not detections or convictions (it is referred to by the NPIA28 and the Home OYce,29

but with diVerent figures cited, and was cited by the minister in January 2010).30

Misleading Claims about Individual Cases

The minister cited the Wright case in the Westminster Hall debate held on 9 December 2009, and it was
used in cross-examination by Committee members as an example of a case that was solved as a result of the
retention of an innocent person’s DNA profile on the DNA Database. This case (and many other high
profile cases cited by ministers) did not rely on the retention of an unconvicted person’s DNA.

Neither the conviction of Steve Wright, who murdered five women in SuVolk (but had a prior conviction
for theft),31 nor that of Mark Dixie, who killed Sally Anne Bowman (and was arrested subsequently during
a pub brawl), would have been aVected by a decision to remove innocent people’s records from the
Database.25 Although Wright was a convicted person, whose DNA profile was already on the database, he
was also a known suspect who had been stopped twice by the police before the crime scene DNA profile was
obtained, since his car had been identified.32 Thus his DNA could have been taken and matched with the
crime scene DNA profile even if he had not been on the database. The delay in obtaining the match was due
to a delay in obtaining a crime scene DNA profile, due to the bodies of his victims being submerged in water.

24 GeneWatch UK (2006) The DNA Expansion Programme: Reporting real achievement? February 2006.
25 GeneWatch UK (2008) Would 114 murderers have walked away? June 2008.
26 Williams C (2008) Gordo’s DNA Database claims branded “ridiculous”. 29 June 2008.

http://www.theregister.co.uk/2008/06/29/brown dna database innocent genewatch/
27 ACPO Criminal Records OYce (ACRO) (2009) DNA Retention Research Project Financial Year 2008–09, London: ACPO.
28 http://www.npia.police.uk/en/13340.htm
29 Home OYce (2009) DNA re-arrest rate hazard analysis. http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/

dna-retention-evidence-paper2835.pdf?view%Binary
30 House of Commons Hansard. 12 Jan 2010 Col 849 W.
31 Steve Wright guilty of SuVolk murders. The Guardian. 21 February 2008.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2008/feb/21/steve.wright.guilty
32 Fresco A (2008) Scientists’ elation at finding DNA that led to a murderer. The Times. 22 February 2008.

http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/crime/article3410814.ece
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The Committee may wish to note that the judgments in the Wright and Dixie cases were made a matter
of days before the S. and Marper case appeared before the Grand Chamber of the European Court of
Human Rights in February 2008. The cases were cited in the press and by Government Counsel in the Grand
Chamber, alongside the R v B rape case originally used by the then Home Secretary Jack Straw to justify
the 2001 legislation (described below).

At the time, Sally Ann Bowman’s mother was informed by the police oYcer who headed the investigation,
that the murder would have been solved several months earlier had there been a universal DNA database
including everyone in Britain.33 Mrs Bowman was encouraged to start a campaign for such a universal
database. Following the hearing, the Sun organised a delegation to Jack Straw’s oYce, calling for a
compulsory DNA database.34

The Home OYce cites support from Mrs Bowman in its 2009 consultation, yet it (rightly) has no intention
of creating a universal database (which is opposed by ACPO and forensic scientists), nor would removing
innocent people’s records from the DNA database have had any impact on the case. Without stating that
Mrs Bowman is calling for everyone to be on the database (which, as the Committee heard in evidence,
ACPO and the minister oppose), the consultation (page 8) cites her as telling the Evening Standard:35 “I am
sick to death of people that complain about this idea. They have no idea what families like mine have gone
through”. The other cases in cited in the article (Worboys and Reid) both involved a failure by police to act
on other evidence linking them to crimes. The then Home Secretary Jacqui Smith refers in the forward to
the consultation to the speech she made in December 2008 in which she stated: “I have real sympathy for
all those concerns that any move could undermine a system that helped trap Sally Anne’s killer” (thus,
implying, wrongly, that removing innocent people’s DNA profiles from the database would have had an
impact on the case).

The R v B case (used by the then Home Secretary Jack Straw to justify the 2001 change in the legislation)
involved a rape followed by a burglary, for which the suspect was charged and his DNA taken. The match
with the semen sample from the rape was indeed made after the individual had been cleared of the burglary,
when his profile was held illegally, but this situation only occurred because the sample had not been analysed
promptly.36, 37 The Home OYce is to be commended for speeding up crime scene DNA analysis so this
situation will not arise again, but its use of the case to justify the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001, which
allowed the indefinite retention of innocent people’s DNA is less commendable.

Role in Proving Innocence

DNA can play an important role in exonerating an individual who is a suspect for a crime. However, an
innocent suspect carries their DNA with them at all times and does not need their profile to be stored on a
database in order to show it does not match the crime scene profile.

In the past, ministers have wrongly cited serious miscarriages of justice—the Sean Hodgson and Stefan
Kizsco cases—to support the retention of innocent people’s DNA profiles. Sean Hodgson was freed as a
result of old crime scene DNA evidence that was found not to match his profile.38 He did not need his DNA
profile to be held on a database, because a DNA sample could have been taken from him at any time while
he was in prison.

The Stefan Kiszco case was cited by the then minister Tony McNulty in evidence to the Constitution
Committee in June 2008. Kiszco was jailed in 1976 for the murder of schoolgirl Lesley Molseed on the
Yorkshire moors. The forensic evidence which eventually cleared Kiszco was that the semen on Lesley’s
underwear could not have been his, because he had a health condition which made him incapable of
producing sperm—evidence never shown to the defence or court at his original trial. He was freed in 1992,
but died a year later. The police re-opened the case in 2001, obtained a DNA profile from Molseed’s
underwear, and Ronald Castree was convicted of the murder in 2007. He had been convicted within a year
of the Molseed’s murder of abducting another young girl and trying to assault her, but his DNA was not
added to the Database until 2006, when he was arrested for an unrelated crime. The case illustrates the
importance of retaining crime scene DNA evidence and DNA profiles from individuals convicted of serious
oVences, who may re-oVend. It did not involve the retention of DNA from any innocent individual and
Kizsco was not freed as a result of the retention of either his or Castree’s DNA.

33 Kelly J (2008) DNA database debate urged. BBC Online.
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/7259494.stm

34 The mother of all crusades. The Sun. 20 March 2008.
http://www.thesun.co.uk/sol/homepage/news/justice/article940274.ece

35 Mother of Sally Anne Bowman: Store everyone’s DNA on a national database. 1 April 2009.
http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23669100-mother-of-sally-anne-bowman-store-everyones-dna-on-a-
national-database.do

36 Williams R, Johnson P, Martin P (2004) Genetic Information & Crime Investigation. Funded by the Wellcome Trust.
http://dro.dur.ac.uk/2555/. See page 36.

37 Judgments—Attorney General’s Reference No 3 of 1999. House of Lords. 14 December 2000.
38 DNA clears “killer” after 30 years in prison. The Times. 12 March 2009.

http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/crime/article5891503.ece
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Scotland’s Legislation

Although we have highlighted above that the DNA Database plays a much greater role in solving volume
crimes than serious crimes, victims and members of the public rightly attach more weight to solving serious
crimes such as rape and murder, and to avoiding delays in the detection of such oVences, which are stressful
for victims and may allow the oVender to attack again. Whilst ministers (including the Prime Minister) have
seriously misled the public regarding the role of retaining innocent people’s DNA profiles in solving rape and
murder, there are nevertheless a small number of rape (but not murder) cases where retention of an innocent
person’s DNA profile did play an important role.

Brief details of two rape cases which do involve retention of DNA profiles from arrested persons have
been provided in the National DNA Database Annual Report 2005–06 (page 14). In the first case a male
was arrested in November 2004 for assault occasioning actual bodily harm and was released without charge
when the victim refused to make a statement: this case has also been cited by ministers as the case of Kensley
Larrier. In the second case a male was arrested for violent disorder, described as a family feud, in his home
in February 2005, and released without charge: this case has also been cited by ministers as the case of Abdul
Azad. Both men later committed stranger rapes and were identified via a match with their stored DNA
profiles. The oYcers in the cases stated that one case would not have been solved had the match not been
made and in the other lengthy and expensive investigations would have been required. Two relevant rape
cases were also briefly cited in the Government’s evidence to the European Court of Human Rights: the two
cases involved prior alleged possession of an oVensive weapon and alleged violent disorder, respectively. One
of these cases is probably the Abdul Azad case described previously, and the other is likely to be the Larrier
case cited on p 14 of the Home OYce’s consultation. Kensley Larrier was arrested in May 2002 for the
possession of an oVensive weapon, but proceedings were discontinued in October 2002. He was linked to a
stranger rape in July 2004 by a match with his stored DNA profile and subsequently convicted of this
oVence. The NPIA website describes two further relevant rape cases and one very serious assault. One of
the rapes involved a cold case review—this is discussed below. According to the NPIA, the other rape case
(the Abdirahman Ali Gudaal case) involved an arrest on suspicion of robbery, for which the suspect was
released without charge in 2006. His retained profile later matched a rape and kidnapping committed in
2008. The assault involved a fixed penalty notice issued to Wayne Bowe some years before he got into a fight.

Excluding the cold case (explained below) this means that four rape cases have been cited by the police
as having been solved as a result of the retention of an unconvicted person’s DNA profile on the DNA
database. One serious assault (of a male victim) has been cited as having been solved as the result of retention
of a DNA profile following a fixed penalty notice.

Opinions diVer as to whether the role the DNA database can play in rape cases justifies the retention of
innocent people’s DNA profiles. Lisa LongstaV, a spokesperson for Women Against Rape, opposes the
proposals to retain innocent people’s DNA profiles for six years contained in the Crime and Security Bill
2009–10 and argues that women should “stand against attempts—by any party—to manipulate rape
survivors’ pain in order to attack human rights”.39 In contrast, Julie Bindel of Justice for Women (citing
the Bowman case, Stefan Kisco, Colin Stagg—another irrelevant case40—and Wendell Baker41—actually
the R v B. case, see above) supports the Government’s position.42

This situation arises largely because of the poor record of the criminal justice system in dealing with
violence against women. In particular, violence against a partner can continue for many years without the
perpetrator being convicted because of reluctance of the victim to press charges; and the conviction rate for
rape is low due to the diYculty in proving that the alleged victim did not consent. This issue would be better
addressed by improving policies to address violence against women. However, in the meantime it may be
necessary to weigh up the importance of tackling this rare subset of rape cases, against the dangers of
wrongly stigmatising a group of men based on allegations that may be entirely false. The 2000 ACPO
Guidelines attempted to achieve this balance for Police National Computer (PNC) records where they state:
“Details may be retained for a period of five years of oVences where a sexual oVence is alleged, but the
subject is acquitted, or the case is discontinued because of lack of corroboration or allegation of consent by
the victim, providing identity is not an issue . . .”. Scotland’s legislation for DNA records is an extension of
this exception. It includes violent as well as sexual crimes because these types of oVences are often linked
(as in the examples above). In Scotland, for any individual who is not convicted following criminal
proceedings for a relevant sexual or violent oVence, DNA profiles and fingerprints may be retained for three
years. This period of retention can be extended for a further two years if approved by a SheriV, with a right
of appeal.

GeneWatch is not opposed to a retention policy similar to Scotland’s, provided:

— The relevant oVences are tightly drawn in an attempt to address the small number of relevant cases.

— The time period for retention is not greater than five years.

39 LongstaV L (2009) Retaining DNA won’t get rid of rape. 13th November 2009.
http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/libertycentral/2009/nov/13/rape-dna-database

40 Catalogue of police mistakes left Napper free to rape and kill. London Evening Standard. 18 December 2008.
http://www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23604579-catalogue-of-police-mistakes-left-napper-free-to-rape-and-kill.do

41 Should Wendel Wilberforce Baker be tried against for rape? The Times. 28 July 2009.
http://business.timesonline.co.uk/tol/business/law/columnists/article6730647.ece

42 Interview. The Today Programme. 11 November 2009.
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— There is a right of appeal to a court or other independent body after not more than three years.

— Safeguards are put in place to improve governance and prevent the misuse of such records to
discriminate against persons who may be the subject of false accusations.

The temporary retention of DNA profiles from a small number of unconvicted persons in Scotland has
not as yet given rise to any DNA detections for serious crimes. However, Scotland’s population is
approximately a 10th of that in England and Wales, so, given the small number of relevant cases, this is not
unexpected. At 1 December 2007 there was a total of 440 DNA profiles held under this legislation.43

Cold Case Reviews

Operation Advance was a £1 million joint initiative between the Forensic Science Service (FSS) and the
Home OYce Police Standards Unit (PSU) to review forensic evidence in old “cold” cases. It was followed
by Operation Stealth. Cold case reviews have brought about more than 150 convictions for rape and murder
in the past decade.

The NPIA website describes one cold case review of a rape that took place in 1991 (before the DNA
database was set up), which relied on a match with an unconvicted person. The crime scene DNA profile
was loaded to the Database in 2008 and matched a DNA profile retained from Paul Dook when he was
arrested from an alleged assault on a relative in 2006 (when no further action was taken).

However, cold case reviews rely predominantly on obtaining a new crime scene DNA profile, from
evidence that could not be analysed when DNA techniques were not so advanced. These profiles can be
matched to the stored DNA profiles of known oVenders, the profile of a suspect who had been identified
but not convicted at the time, or stored on the database until someone’s profile is added that generates a
match. Several cold cases have also been solved using “familial searching”: a technique which can identify
the relative of a suspect through a partial match with their DNA profile.

Retention of innocent individuals’ DNA profiles would not play a role at all in cold case reviews if all the
relevant crime scene profiles had already been added to the database. Speeding up the review of serious cold
cases would also help address concerns that they might give rise to miscarriages of justice, due to poor
corroborating evidence because of the long time since the oVence. It would also help the relatives of victims.

Given the success of cold case reviews, and the low cost compared to adding innocent people to the DNA
Database and storing 5 million DNA samples (see below) it is extraordinary that the Government is
considering axing Operation Stealth in order to save money.44

Home Office Research

The minister stated in evidence that research commissioned by the Home OYce had shown that innocent
persons whose profiles will be retained on the DNA database for six years had been shown to have a greater
risk of oVending than the general population. This is not the case.

The original research on which this claim is based, published as part of the Home OYce’s consultation,
has been widely criticised. Ben Goldacre in “Bad Science” called it “possibly the most unclear and badly
presented piece of research I have ever seen in a professional environment”; it was described by one professor
of statistics as “a travesty of both statistical science and logical thinking”; and criminologists also published
a critical analysis in the New Law Journal.45, 46, 47 The Jill Dando Institute, which conducted part of the
research, later distanced itself from the findings which it stated were “unfinished”.48

A new, finished version of this evidence has now been published by the Home OYce.49 The previous
analysis was based on “conviction-to-conviction” (the likelihood of a convicted person being re-convicted),
which was then extrapolated to people who had not been convicted. The new analysis is based on “arrest-
to-arrest” (the likelihood that an arrested person against whom no further action is taken is later re-
arrested). Neither piece of research shows that persons who are arrested but not convicted have a greater
risk of oVending than the general population—the second piece of research shows only that they have a
greater risk of re-arrest.

In 2006, the then Home OYce minister with responsibility for the National DNA Database, Joan Ryan
MP, stated, more honestly: “As far as we are aware, there is no definitive data available on whether persons
arrested but not proceeded against are more likely to oVend than the population at large.”50

43 http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/09/22154244/23
44 Police spending cuts may spell the end for unsolved murders unit. The Times. 14 December 2009.
45 Soothill K, Francis B (2009) Keeping the DNA link. New Law Journal, 17 July 2009.
46 Goldacre B (2009) Is this a joke? The Guardian, 18 July 2009. Available on:

http://www.badscience.net/2009/07/is-this-a-joke/
47 The DNA database: innocent or guilty, what’s the diVerence? Straight Statistics. 15 June 2009.

http://www.straightstatistics.org/article/dna-database-innocent-or-guilty-whats-diVerence
48 DNA storage proposal “incomplete”. BBC Online. 25 September 2009.

http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/8273882.stm
49 Home OYce (2009) DNA re-arrest rate hazard analysis. http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/

dna-retention-evidence-paper2835.pdf?view%Binary
50 House of Commons Hansard 9 Oct 2006: Column 492W.
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Even if research did show that people who had been arrested but not convicted were more likely to be
convicted of a subsequent oVence than a member of the general population, this does not mean that
retaining their DNA profiles on the database is going to solve many crimes. This is because lost or delayed
DNA detections only arise if individuals whose records are taken oV the Database commit a crime which
they could have been linked to through their stored DNA profile had it been retained, but which remains
undetected. As we have shown above, this situation is rather rare (it applies to only a tiny fraction of crimes
committed). If some of these people commit a future crime detected in another way, they will end up on the
database again in any case.

Arguably, innocent people with their DNA profiles on the Database may be less likely to commit a crime
for which DNA evidence is relevant than a member of the general population. This is because their DNA
profile has been searched against all past crime scene DNA profiles on loading to the Database and this has
failed to lead to their identification and conviction for any past oVence from which a crime scene DNA
profile has been stored. A member of the public who has never had their profile loaded onto the database
is more likely to have committed one of these oVences, and perhaps to be at risk of doing so in the future,
even though this likelihood is very small (this includes serving police oYcers, whose profiles are loaded onto
a separate Police Elimination Database, which is never speculatively searched).

Link to Police National Computer Records

People who have been arrested have an arrest summons number (ASN) included in their record on the
National DNA Database (NDNAD), which provides a link to other information on the Police National
Computer (PNC). When the NDNAD was established in 1995, records were supposed to be removed at the
same time as an individual’s criminal record.51 However, the change in legislation allowing DNA records
to be retained has subsequently been used to justify a change in policy which means that all PNC records are
now kept permanently.52 The retention of permanent records of arrest is unprecedented in British history.
Retention of the PNC records enables the police (who do not have direct access to the NDNAD) to establish
whether or not a DNA sample has already been taken from an arrested person. However, PNC records may
also be accessed by a much wider range of individuals and agencies than the DNA Database, and used for
other purposes, such as pre-employment checks.

For innocent persons on the DNA Database, the provisions in the Crime and Security Bill 2009–10 are
worse than the current “exceptional cases” removal procedure followed by Chief Constables, because
records of arrest on the Police National Computer (PNC) will be retained indefinitely.53 Retention of these
records gives rise to stigma and discrimination and can lead to refusal of a visa or a job.

It is the PNC record that the police access when they do a “name check” and this can result in diVerent
treatment by the police: the case of David Sweeney in Manchester is an example.54

The Rehabilitation of OVenders Act does not apply to US visa law, for example, and “people who have
been arrested, even if the arrest did not result in a criminal conviction” may not be eligible for the Visa
Waiver Scheme or may be refused a visa altogether.55

Information disclosed in an Enhanced Criminal Record Check can include “non conviction information,
if in the opinion of the Chief OYcer it is considered to be relevant to the post or position applied for”.56

Indefinite Retention of “Convicted” Persons

The research on re-oVending published by the Home OYce, in its consultation and elsewhere, does
support the re-introduction of weeding rules, so that records of people with old past cautions or convictions
for minor oVences do not have their records retained indefinitely. This is because most re-oVending occurs
relatively soon after a first oVence.

Taking these patterns of oVending into account, the 2000 ACPO Guidelines on retention of police
records57 required most police records of cautions to be deleted after five years, and convictions for minor
oVences to be deleted after 10 (provided no further oVences had been committed). Exceptions were made
for serious oVences, or multiple oVences, where records could be retained indefinitely. Under the guidelines
in use when the DNA Database was first set up in 1995 (Home OYce Circular 16/95), DNA Database
records were also supposed to be deleted when PNC records were weeded, but this was never implemented
due to a failure to link the computer systems. Adoption of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 (which
allowed the indefinite retention of DNA profiles and samples following acquittal or if charges were dropped)
led to the abandonment of the ACPO Guidelines and any nominal provisions to weed DNA profile or
fingerprint records from persons with reprimands, final warnings, cautions or convictions. All records from
all arrested persons are now retained indefinitely.

51 Home OYce Circular 16/95.
52 Coates F (2006) Police to file all oVences for life. The Times. 21 Jan 2006.

http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/article716688.ece
53 Doward J (2009) Names of innocent people will stay on police database. The Observer. 20 December 2009.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2009/dec/20/dna-police-database-rights
54 Available on: http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/8354740.stm
55 See: http://www.usembassy.org.uk/cons new/visa/niv/vwp3.html
56 See: http://www.cjsonline.gov.uk/oVender/criminal record/
57 ACPO (2000) General rules for police record weeding on criminal systems.
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Parliament has never considered whether or not all persons aged 10 or above who have been given a
reprimand, final warning, caution or conviction for a recordable oVence should have their records retained
indefinitely. The decision to do so was a purely administrative one. Nor is the indefinite retention of these
records, including DNA profiles and fingerprints, necessarily compatible with Article 8 of the European
Convention on Human Rights.58, 59

A more proportionate police would reinstate the weeding rules for Police National Computer records and
ensure that deletion of DNA profiles and fingerprint records occurs at the same time.

Racial Bias

The minister claimed that the proposals in the Bill would have neither and an adverse nor a positive eVect
on disproportionality and that the answer to this problem lies elsewhere. This is incorrect.

The DNA profiles of an estimated 37% of black men60 and 77% of young black men, aged between 15
and 34, have been estimated to be on the National DNA Database.61 Baroness Scotland confirmed the
latter figure to the Committee during its 2007 inquiry “Young Black People and the Criminal Justice System.

In evidence, the minister correctly noted that these figures are approximate because they are calculated
by comparing the proportion of the population recorded as “Afro-Caribbean” on the Database (based on
appearance to a police oYcer) with the proportion identifying themselves as belonging to the relevant ethnic
group in the national census. Nevertheless they give a strong indication that significant disproportionality
does exist.

The Committee’s 2007 report concluded that statistics show that young black people are over-represented
at all stages of the criminal justice system.62 Black people constitute 2.7% of the population aged 10–17,
but represent 8.5% of those of that age group arrested in England and Wales. The report concluded that
social exclusion, educational underachievement and school exclusion interact to form a web of
disadvantage, bringing young black people disproportionately into contact with crime and the criminal
justice system as both victims and oVenders. The report also argues that the relationship between black
communities and the police in Britain leads to greater involvement in the criminal justice system—in some
instances due to discrimination, and in other cases because suspicion or mistrust of criminal justice agencies
leads young people to take the law into their own hands to protect themselves or exact redress.

Because arrests of black men in particular are so high, the retention of innocent people’s DNA is losing
trust in policing. This is because people who have done nothing wrong—and who may even have been
intervening to try to prevent a fight, for example—still have their records retained by the police. A six-year
retention period will do nothing the address this issue, because people can be re-arrested and kept on the
database indefinitely. Trust is not increased by claims made by serving police oYcers that the police arrest
some people just to get their DNA63—a practice that would allow an individual simply to be re-arrested
and put back on the Database under the provisions in the Bill. In August 2009, GeneWatch UK and Black
Mental Health UK organised a meeting for black community groups about the Home OYce’s consultation.
Around 200 people attended to discuss the issues and to hear the Home OYce’s Head of Policing Powers
explain the consultation. His claim that the threshold for arrest was high (see below) was not widely accepted
by the audience.

The decision not to include deletion of Police National Computer (PNC) records at the same time as DNA
and fingerprint records in the Crime and Security Bill 2008–09 will have a particularly negative impact on
members of black and ethnic minority communities who are disproportionately represented on these
databases. It is the PNC record that the police use when they “name check” someone, and which can lead
to stigma and discrimination, including refusal of visas or a job.

A Universal Database?

The discussion of a universal database is somewhat theoretical since such a proposal would clearly not
be compatible with the judgment of the European Court of Human Rights.

Adding adult volunteers onto a universal database would cost an enormous sum of money, waste police
time and be unlikely to catch any serious oVenders, because they would simply not turn up to give their
DNA. Attempting to add the whole population by force would lead to even greater diYculties, and waste

58 Equalities and Human Rights Commission (2010) Government’s proposals incompatible with European Convention on
Human Rights. Press Release. 5th January 2010. Available on:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/media-centre/government-s-proposals-incompatible-with-the-european-convention-
on-human-rights

59 Legal Opinion available on: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded files/counsels advice dna database.pdf
60 Randerson J (2006) DNA of 37% of black men held by police. The Guardian. 5 January 2006.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/jan/05/race.ukcrime
61 Leapman B (2006) Three in four young black men on the DNA Database. The Telegraph. 5 November 2006.

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/1533295/Three-in-four-young-black-men-on-the-DNA-database.html
62 House of Commons Home AVairs Committee (2007) Young black people and the criminal justice system. Second report of

session 2006–07. Volume I. HC-181-I. http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200607/cmselect/cmhaV/181/181i.pdf
63 Police “arrest innocent youths for their DNA”, oYcer claims. The Telegraph 4 June 2009.

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/newstopics/politics/lawandorder/5444332/Police-arrest-innocent-youths-for-their-DNA-
oYcer-claims.html
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even more police time by treating anyone who is unwilling to cooperate as a criminal. If DNA was taken at
birth, in 10 years’ time there would be a DNA database of every child under 10 who had been born in
Britain—but this would not have helped to catch any murderers or rapists. The children on the database
would be vulnerable to identification and abuse by anyone who could infiltrate the system.

The British Academy of Forensic Sciences has noted that “in reality there are a number
of disadvantages” with profiling everyone at birth, which it lists as:64

— The scale of the operation would be disproportionate, since only a minority commit crimes.

— It would increase anxieties about “big brother”, already evoked by widespread CCTV coverage
and proposed biometric identity cards.

— It might be seen to imply that we are all guilty until proven innocent.

— There have, and will be, mistakes, chance matches and false matches with close relatives, made
even more likely where profiles are incomplete.

— Links will be established all the time between the scene and innocent individuals, leading to false
inferences.

— It would render every member of the population vulnerable to attack, by for example having their
DNA planted at a crime scene.

— In future it is possible that profiles could also reveal confidential information about the health of
an individual.

— It would be impossible to control for the large numbers of people who enter and leave the country,
both legally and illegally.

In our 2006 analysis65 GeneWatch noted that the number of crimes detected using DNA would not be
very large, even if the whole population were on the DNA database. This is because the value of the
Database is always limited by the number of crime scenes that yield samples that can be analysed so that
profiles can be loaded to the database. In 2008–09, the NDNAD Annual Report states (page 27) that
796,780 crimes had a crime scene examination (17% of recorded crimes) and that 49,572 crime scene DNA
profiles were added to the database (often, a profile of suYcient quality cannot be obtained). Assuming one
profile per crime scene (often many more are collected from crime scenes such as murders), this means that
crime scene DNA profiles were obtained from 1% of recorded crimes. Even if all these profiles were matched
with an individual, because the entire population and all visitors were on the database, not all matches lead
to detections and not all detections lead to convictions, so the percentage of crimes solved would be a small
fraction of this 1% of crimes. Further, as the size of the DNA database increases the expected number of
false matches is expected to increase, leading to a waste of police time following false leads, and to potential
miscarriages of justice.

Priorities and Costs

The minister stated that no assessment of cost-eVectiveness of expanding the DNA database compared
to other approaches had been carried out. This is one of the few claims that is correct.

It is GeneWatch’s understanding that the decision to expand the DNA profiling of individuals, to include
everyone arrested for a recordable oVence, and to store DNA samples indefinitely, resulted from lobbying
by commercial interests, not by the police. This has resulted in a focus on the wrong priorities—analysing
large numbers of individual samples and storing them—because they make more money than a targeted
approach. In GeneWatch’s view a focus on analysing crime scene samples would be much more cost-
eVective.

The provisions in the Crime and Security Bill 2009–10 to destroy all samples (which are currently retained
indefinitely) will save a significant amount of money. Removal of DNA profiles is virtually cost free, once
the necessary software has been set up. Automatic removal of profiles is much more cost-eVective than the
current case-by-case approach, which is wasteful of the time of the police, the applicants and their MPs.

In the Annex to its consultation, the Home OYce estimated that its preferred option of automated
deletion of DNA profiles from unconvicted persons six years after arrest (unless the individual concerned
has been re-arrested or convicted during this period) would incur a one-oV cost of £15,000 and an average
annual cost of £20. Manual deletion of the same number of profiles would cost considerably more: the Home
OYce’s estimate is £52 million (NPV over 20 years).66 The monetised cost of one-by-one destruction of
samples over 20 years was put at just under £92 million in this analysis, but Home OYce oYcials have
confirmed to us that this was included in error as the routine destruction of all samples (rather than tracking
back innocent people’s samples one-by-one) would cost nothing. The monetised savings in storage

64 British Academy of Forensic Sciences (2007) Submission to the consultation held by the NuYeld Council on Bioethics on
“The forensic use of bioinformation: ethical issues”.
http://www.nuYeldbioethics.org/fileLibrary/pdf/British Academy of Forensic Sciences.pdf

65 GeneWatch UK (2006) The DNA Expansion Programme: Reporting real achievement? February 2006.
66 Available on: http://www.homeoYce.gov.uk/documents/cons-2009-dna-database/
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(refrigeration) costs were estimated at £9.5 million over 20 years: this would be a loss of earnings to the
companies which store the samples. In our view this is likely to be an underestimate: DNA samples cost
approximately £1 a year to store.

The costs of the NDNAD in 2008–09 were £4,290,500 (this includes both capital and running costs; it is
not possible to separate the two).67

As far as we are aware, no cost-benefit analysis of the decision to collect DNA samples on arrest rather
than charge has ever been published. The most recent figure available of the cost of putting an individual
on the database is the £30 to £40 provided by Mr Pugh in evidence to you. This is consistent with the Home
OYce’s report in 2006 (paragraph 79) which stated that the cost of processing a new PACE (Police and
Criminal Evidence Act) kit DNA sample is below £50.3. We noted above that DNA detections have not
increased since the adoption of the Criminal Justice Act 2003. This suggests that large amounts of public
money appear to have been wasted by collecting DNA on arrest rather than on charge.

We noted above that the cold case review of serious crimes has solved many important cases, but that this
may be axed due to lack of money.68 In GeneWatch’s review, cold case reviews should be prioritised, since
obtaining crime scene DNA profiles from these cases could continue to produce important benefits for
victims and their families. This may include the exoneration of innocent persons (who, as explained above
do not need to have their DNA profile on a DNA database, but do need the crime scene DNA profile to be
available). The more quickly this is done, the better.

Current cases would also benefit from a focus on analysing crime scene DNA, rather than expanding the
number of individuals’ profiles added to the Database. The Government’s eVorts, as part of the DNA
Expansion Programme, to speed up the analysis of DNA from crime scenes has been successful, as has the
decision to collect more DNA from the scenes of volume crimes. Whilst many crime scenes do not yield
DNA, there remains significant room for improvement in crime scene investigation in some areas,
particularly rape, which many women do not report and where adequate medical examinations are often
not undertaken.69 Addressing this issue properly would more than outweigh any potential detections lost
due to removing unconvicted individuals’ DNA profiles from the database. The figures in Table 1 show that
about 0.35 DNA detections are made per crime scene DNA profile loaded to the database. This suggests an
initial crude estimate that loading 10 more DNA profiles from rapes per year could deliver 3 to 4 more DNA
detections—many times more than might be lost through removing unconvicted persons from the Database.
However, note that detections are not successful prosecutions and that DNA cannot resolve disputes about
consent. Other policies therefore have a higher priority when considering how best to tackle crimes of
violence against women.

The explanation for these poor priorities is that the decision to collect DNA on arrest rather than on
charge was made following lobbying by commercial interests, not by the police. No cost-eVectiveness
analysis was ever made and scrutiny was limited. The amendment to the Criminal Justice Act 2003 by-passed
committee stage and was submitted by the Home Secretary David Blunkett during the first week of the Iraq
war, the week before the Bill began to be debated in the Commons.

False Matches and Data Sharing Across the EU

DNA evidence is not foolproof an errors can occur in a variety of ways.

Neither the minister nor the police discussed concerns about the increasing likelihood of false matches
between crime scene DNA profiles and stored individuals’ profiles. There is significant concern within the
Home OYce and amongst forensic scientists about the potential for false matches to occur once sharing of
DNA profiles across the EU beings in 2011, as a result of an extension of the Prm Treaty Europe-wide.

It is clearly valuable to be able to share crime scene DNA profiles of the suspected perpetrators of serious
crimes with other EU countries, and to search for possible matches with individuals who have their DNA
retained on other databases. However, the blanket approach agreed by ministers (comparing every stored
crime scene DNA profile, whether it is believed to come from the perpetrator of a crime or not, with every
stored individual’s DNA profile, including those from innocent people) raises significant concerns about the
potential for false matches, because the number of false matches is proportional to the number of
comparisons between profiles that are made.

The likelihood of false matches also increases if the DNA profile from the crime scene is not complete, a
situation which occurs frequently because crime scene DNA may become degraded. Probably largely as a
result of adding partial crime scene profiles to the Database, the National DNA Database Annual Report
2005–06 states that between May 2001 and April 2006, 50,434 matches with crime scene profiles, or 27.6%
of the total number of match reports, involved a list of potential suspects, not a single suspect, being given
to the police, because matches with multiple records on the NDNAD were made. A reported 83.7 multiple
matches a month were made over the 12 months from May 2008 to April 2009.70 Matches with partial crime
scene DNA profiles are flagged up to the police, and GeneWatch has been unable to obtain reliable figures
about the extent to which they have been used in court.

67 House of Lords Hansard 2 Dec 2009 : Column WA52.
68 Police spending cuts may spell the end for unsolved murders unit. The Times. 14 December 2009.
69 HMIC(2007) Without Consent. January 2007. Available on:

http://inspectorates.homeoYce.gov.uk/hmic/inspections/thematic/wc-thematic/them07-wc.pdf?view%Binary
70 House of Commons Hansard. 17 Jun 09: Column 315W.
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The number of false matches that occur simply by chance (rather than laboratory errors etc) is expected
to increase significantly when the routine sharing of DNA profile matches across the EU begins in 2011. The
large size of the National DNA Database means that a much greater number of false matches is expected
than for any other country.71 This includes false matches with full crime scene DNA profiles, where it will
not be immediately obvious that there might be a problem, as well as partial ones. False matches can lead
to false accusations and (in a worst case scenario) miscarriages of justice.

The number of false matches that occur by chance is proportionate to the size of the Database and thus
one mechanism to reduce these would be to restrict profile retention to a smaller number of people who
genuinely pose a danger to the public.

Threshold for Arrest

The minister stated that the threshold for arrest is high and that “we are talking about serious oVences”.
This is not the case.

Recordable oVences include virtually all oVences, except dropping litter and some traYc oVences.72 The
Government has sought to expand DNA collection to non-recordable oVences but dropped the proposals
following public controversy, including opposition by ACPO, which stated that “Extending the taking of
samples to all oVences may be perceived as indicative of the increasing criminalisation of the generally law-
abiding citizen”.73 However, recordable oVences still include many minor oVences, such as children pulling
each others’ hair (assault); throwing snowballs and breaking windows with footballs, breaking a fence or a
tree branch (criminal damage). A false accusation from another child (or an adult) is suYcient to be arrested.
In one case, a grandmother was arrested for theft because she refused to return a football to some boys who
had kicked it into her garden.

The situation has been exacerbated due to the significant increase of arrests of children due to police
targets. The former chair of the Youth Justice Board, Professor Rod Morgan, summarised the situation:74

“To meet crime targets, the police are picking low-hanging fruit—the lowest of which comprises
juvenile group behaviour in schools, residential homes and public spaces, oVences that could be
dealt with informally, more eVectively, speedily and cheaply, and in former times were. There has
been a 26% increase in the number of children and young persons criminalised in the past three
years. This at a time when the British Crime Survey and police statistics indicate that most crimes,
including those committed by juveniles, have been falling.”

Chief Inspector Sir Ronnie Flanagan, raised concerns with the Committee in 2008, that children were
being arrested for fighting in school playgrounds.75 A child who has done nothing wrong can also be
arrested in these situations, because one of the children will often make a counter-accusation, which may
or may not be true. Both children will then have their DNA taken and entered on the Database. Police
Constable Stuart Davidson told the BBC: “We get exactly the same points for cautioning a girl for pulling
another girl’s hair as we would for domestic burglary. In terms of statistics they’re exactly the same”.76

The Police Federation has published a list of ludicrous arrests, of both adults and children.77

Many people who are suVering from mental illness also get arrested for public order oVences because they
are behaving strangely in a public place. Some vulnerable individuals may suVer serious impacts on their
mental health as a result of having their DNA taken by the police.78 Victims and passers-by who have
intervened to stop a fight, or simply been in the wrong place at the wrong time, have also been arrested.

All these people, including those whose arrests have been described as “ludicrous” by the police, will have
had their DNA and fingerprints taken routinely on arrest and retained on the DNA database.

Volunteers

The minister urged Committee members to consider amending the Bill to allow the inclusion of volunteers
on the DNA Database. PACE was in fact amended to allow the inclusion of volunteers on the Database by
the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 and 36,093 profiles on the database are estimated to have come
from volunteers.

71 van der Beek CP (2008) Exchange of DNA-profiles by the Treaty of Prm. Maastricht/Heerlen (NL), 5–6 June 2008. www.dna-
conference.eu

72 http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2007/feb/19/comment.politics3
73 See: http://www.genewatch.org/sub-55199
74 http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2007/feb/19/comment.politics3
75 Hoggart S (2008) Targeting the young. The Guardian. 1 March 2008.

http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2008/mar/01/1
76 Wasting Police Time. BBC Panorama. 16 September 2007.

http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/programmes/panorama/6948201.stm
77 Police condemn “target culture”. BBC Online 15 May 2007.

http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/6656411.stm
78 Morris N (2008) Mother claims son killed himself after DNA taken. The Independent. 8 August 2008.

http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/mother-claims-son-killed-himself-after-dna-profile-taken-888387.html
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Whilst volunteers are required to give consent to inclusion on the database, this consent is irrevocable and
has caused controversy because many victims of crime have ended up on the DNA Database unaware of
what they have signed. Some later raised objections and were unable to get their records removed. The
Science and Technology Committee and the Human Genetics Commission both expressed concerns and
ACPO and the NDNAD Ethics Committee conducted an investigation which concluded that the inclusion
of volunteers was not helping to solve crimes: “There would therefore be no loss to operational policing if,
for the majority of crimes, volunteer samples were not loaded onto the NDNAD and were used only in
relation to the investigation of the crime for which they were obtained”.79 This led to a proposal in the
Home OYce’s 2009 consultation that volunteers’ DNA profiles should be used for specific investigations
only and not included on the Database, and that existing volunteer profiles should be removed, a proposal
which attracted “significant support”,80 but which appears to have been omitted from the Bill.

Concerns about potential inclusion on the Database have led some people who are asked to give their
samples on a voluntary basis to refuse to co-operate with police inquiries. Police now routinely have to
reassure the public that they will not be added to the Database without their consent, in order to persuade
them to co-operate.

GeneWatch suggests that Committee members do not follow the minister’s advice as they would look at
best foolish amending new legislation to replicate what has already been adopted, and which existing
evidence has shown to have contributed to a loss of public trust and to be a waste of time and money. Instead,
members might more productively consider amending the Bill to remove the profiles of volunteers from the
Database, or, at minimum, to allow withdrawal of consent.

Supplementary memorandum submitted by Liberty

Thank you for inviting Liberty to give oral evidence to your Committee’s timely inquiry into the DNA
database earlier this year. As you know, Liberty has been campaigning on the issue of DNA retention for
many years and we are delighted that the Home AVairs Committee is now examining the NDNAD.

In the course of my evidence session I was asked by Tom Brake MP whether we maintain records of the
number of innocent people we have assisted in getting their DNA removed from the database and the
number of cases where we have been successful in doing so. I have now consulted our litigators and include
below a summary of where things currently stand with our DNA litigation. This letter is marked confidential
as several cases are now live.

Following our intervention in S and Marper v UK in the European Court of Human Rights Liberty now
has 15 active DNA cases. All of these involve individuals arrested but not charged or convicted for any
oVence but whose DNA remains on the NDNAD. The majority of these cases came to us through the DNA
clinic that we ran in conjunction with Diane Abbott MP in Hackney in August 2009 and which was discussed
at some length during the oral evidence session. I have enclosed with this letter an (anonymised) selection
of these cases as examples of the type of cases where DNA is still being retained by police indefinitely and
where it would be continue to be held for a minimum of six years under the Government’s current
proposals.81 In all 15 cases requests for custody records and other information held have been made.
Response times from the police are variable and we are still awaiting relevant documentation from the police
in nine cases. Formal requests for destruction have been made in four cases. For one of these cases an initial
vaguely worded refusal to destroy has been received and we have now instituted the Exceptional Case
Procedure (to which I referred in the oral evidence session). Given the current legislative framework and
ACPO guidance in place we are expecting that our other outstanding and planned requests will follow the
same pattern.

As I hope to have made clear in my oral evidence to your Committee, a lack of parliamentary guidance
on when it is appropriate to delete the DNA of the innocent combined with the hugely restrictive ACPO
guidance which has filled the void means that the likelihood of securing DNA deletions is slim indeed. As
well as more robust guidance on the use of chief constables discretion, Liberty is, of course, also calling for
a requirement to delete the DNA of innocent people in the vast majority of cases.

If I may, there was one other issue raised during the evidence session on which I would like to provide some
further clarification and that is the role of the DNA retention in the conviction of Steve Wright—convicted in
2008 for murdering five women in Ipswich. This horrific case is often cited by the Government in support
of retaining the DNA of innocent people for a blanket period. In fact, Steve Wright’s DNA was on the DNA
database not because he had previously been arrested and not charged but as a result of a conviction for
theft in 2003. He was not then one of the hundreds of thousands of innocent people whose DNA continues
to be stockpiled on the database. Despite frequently being cited, this case bears little relevance to the current
and ongoing debate about the retention of innocents’ DNA. While Liberty accepts that the more DNA that

79 1st Annual Report of the Ethics Group: National DNA Database. April 2008.
80 Home OYce (2009) Keeping the right people on the DNA database: science and public protection. Summary of Responses

Public Consultation 7 May to 7 August 2009. November 2009.
81 Not printed.
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is retained the increased chance there is of additional crime detections we believe that this is an argument
not for blanket retention of innocents’ DNA but a universal DNA database with indefinite retention. We
are not aware that any political party is currently advocating such a policy.

Once again, sincere thanks for the opportunity to present oral evidence to your Committee on the issue
of DNA retention. I do hope that this letter has provided useful elaboration and clarification.

February 2010

Memorandum submitted by National DNA Database Strategy Board

The Committee raised the underlying operational and business case for using DNA profiling in crime
investigation compared to traditional policing methods. There have been relatively few formal academic
studies on the impact and eVectiveness of DNA profiling. The US Department of Justice sponsored a
randomised study of 500 property crime cases, it was found that where evidence was processed twice as many
suspects were identified, arrested and accepted for prosecution compared to traditional crime investigation
methods.

I would also like to bring to the attention of the Committee the importance of DNA profiling in
eliminating individuals from criminal enquiries. If DNA or finger marks from the perpetrator of a crime are
found at the crime scene or on the victim then this provides an important and crucial safeguard against false
allegations and wrongful conviction, as in the case of Sean Hodgson, who was exonerated through DNA
profiling in March 2009. The US Innocence Project provides more stark examples of this including
individuals who were due to be executed.

January 2010

Supplementary memorandum submitted by the Home OYce

Crime and Security Bill—DNA Database

During the Second Reading debate on the Crime and Security Bill, I undertook to write to colleagues
recording the main statistics concerning the use of the DNA database to tackle crime and also to explain
the research behind the Government’s retention proposals.

The retention of biometric data is understandably an emotive issue. To promote the debate which I
welcome, I thought it would be helpful to lay out the facts which underpin our proposals. Without DNA
evidence, thousands of crimes would go unsolved and many serious and dangerous criminals would be
walking our streets. Between 1998 and March 2009, DNA evidence helped to solve over 304,000 crimes. In
2008–09 there were 252 homicides and 580 rapes with a DNA scene-subject match. In the same period, there
were detections in 70 homicide and 168 rape cases where a DNA match was 0 available.

However, we have been careful to balance the wider interests of public protection with the rights of the
individual. We have used the best evidence available to ensure that we only retain DNA for as long as it is
necessary in the interests of public protection.

New Research

Much has been made of the Scottish retention system, although that system, in eVect, allows for indefinite
retention of DNA profiles of those arrested but not convicted of serious oVences. By contrast, our proposals
would be an automatic deletion after six years for adults arrested for any oVence and after three years for
children, unless they are 16–17 year olds arrested for serious oVences when profiles will be retained for six
years. Like the Scottish system, we are seeking a balance between the rights of individuals who have been
arrested but not convicted of a crime with the need to protect the public. However, in striking that balance
we have used the best evidence available; specifically, research that was not available to the Scottish
Executive when they created their retention regime in 2007.

During the course of the consultation on the DNA database that we published in May 2009, we undertook
further research. We would ideally like to know the likelihood that an individual arrested but not convicted
is subsequently convicted of an oVence. The data available to us, however, describe the likelihood of
subsequent arrest, not conviction. An arrest is not proof of guilt, but data on arrest provide an indication
of the risk of subsequent oVending, compared with the risk present in the general population.

We had a maximum of three years of usable PNC data on arrests available to us, because of weeding of
PNC arrest entries for earlier years. As a result, we had to extend the data statistically to forecast the risk
of re-arrest. On this basis, we estimated that the risk of re-arrest in the group originally arrested but not
convicted remains higher than in the general population for six years after the initial arrest, providing a
justification for our retention policy.
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It has been suggested that the research carried out into the Scottish system (by Professor Fraser) did not
uncover any evidence to suggest that the Scottish approach to retention had caused any detriment to the
detection of serious crime there. However, that is to misunderstand this research which did not assess
whether alternative systems would have been more eVective. It was also unable to review how many serious
crimes went undetected as the relevant DNA profiles had been deleted and, therefore, was not in a position
to conclude whether there was any detriment to the detection of serious crime.

DNA Retention for those Arrested for Less Serious Crimes

Criminological opinion tells us that the seriousness of the initial oVence for which the person was arrested
is not a good indicator of the seriousness of any subsequent oVending. This has been confirmed by our
latest research.

In 2008–09 alone, the ACPO Criminal Records OYce found that 79 rape, murder or manslaughter cases
in England and Wales were matched to the DNA database from DNA profiles that belonged to individuals
who had been arrested but not convicted of any crime. Of that number, 36 cases were found to have had a
direct and specific value to the investigation. If we were to have applied the Scottish model’s retention regime
to this number and only retained for three years the profiles of those who were arrested but not convicted
of a serious crime, then the number of potential detections would have reduced by almost two thirds to just
13 detections. In short, 23 victims of the most serious crimes and their families could have been denied justice
last year alone under the Scottish model.

DNA Samples

On DNA samples we are taking a more liberal approach than currently adopted in Scotland. A DNA
sample contains a person’s biological tissue. This is diVerent to a DNA profile, which consists of 10 pairs
of numbers (and an X or Y marker to indicate sex). It is much more intrusive to retain a DNA sample than
to retain a DNA profile.

We propose to destroy all DNA samples within six months of collection, even for those who have been
convicted. The Scottish model retains all DNA samples for at least 20 years for all those convicted and, in
line with DNA profiles, potentially indefinitely for those arrested but not convicted of a serious crime.

I look forward to an informed debate as the Bill progresses through the House.

February 2010

Further supplementary memorandum submitted by Home OYce

Crime and Security Bill: Deletion Of DNA

I am writing to seek your support at Report stage of the Crime and Security Bill for an amendment that
we have developed in direct response to your intervention at Second Reading. You rightly said that some
of the concern regarding DNA retention was the so-called “postcode lottery” of the removal of DNA profiles
under the exceptional case procedure. I agreed that we need to move away from such regional disparities
and you suggested that one central authority would be a more attractive model than the decisions of 43
diVerent Chief Constables. I have considered this suggestion in detail and intend to table an amendment at
Report stage of the Bill to give eVect to it.

I have set out below how the proposed amendment will work in practice. Clause 20 of the Crime and
Security Bill will place the existing National DNA Database Strategy Board on a statutory basis and make
its deliberations more accessible to parliamentarians. We propose to table an amendment that would provide
the Board with a power to issue mandatory guidance to chief police oYcers in connection with the early
destruction of any DNA profiles, fingerprints or impressions of footwear. As you know, Chief Constables
already have the power to remove such profiles under the “Exceptional Case Procedure”, but these
amendments would for the first time require that Chief Constables follow the statutory guidance
underpinning the new “Early Deletion Procedure”. We are renaming the procedure to underline the point
that deletion decisions will no longer rely on the presence of exceptional circumstances. Failure to follow
the new guidance could be challenged through the Courts.

We would expect the guidance to reflect the range of circumstances where DNA retention is clearly
inappropriate, such where it is objectively clear that no oVence has been committed. In particular, I am
mindful of the case that Diane Abbott MP raised in Westminster Hall on 9 December of a constituent of
hers who had been arrested for shoplifting when in fact she was merely returning an item for refund. The
Strategy Board will consult widely on the guidance before issuing it, and the views of Parliamentarians will
of course be sought and welcomed as part of that process.

We considered other bodies that might take on this central authority role, such as the National Policing
Improvement Agency. However, we thought it would be more appropriate to choose a more independent
body, The DNA Strategy Board, while chaired by the ACPO DNA lead and including representatives from
the Association of Police Authorities and the Home OYce, also includes such independent members as the
Information Commissioner, the Forensic Science Regulator and the National DNA Database Ethics
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Group. The Human Genetics Commission is also considering an invitation to join and we are awaiting their
response. These powerful independent figures would be responsible, with the police members of the Board,
for the production and oversight of the statutory guidance.

Furthermore, we intend to table amendments at Report to improve the accountability of the DNA
Strategy Board itself, including a requirement to provide their annual report to Parliament. This could even
provide your Select Committee with the opportunity to consider the annual reports and hold enquiries where
you have any concerns.

I know that many MPs have sought to assist their constituents’ attempts to remove DNA profiles that
have clearly arisen from cases of mistaken identity or where no crime has occurred. Some members have felt
frustrated by the bureaucracy involved, so in addition to the amendment on the face of the Bill we will ensure
that there is one point of contact for both members of the public and constituency MPs. Both parties will
be able to write to the DNA Strategy Board itself, rather than individual police forces. Once a request has
been received by the Board, the case will be handled by a central team who will collate the case file, provide
advice and a recommendation to the relevant Chief Constable based on the statutory guidance and then
inform the member of the public of the decision. As I said before, if a member of the public or their
constituency MP still believe that an error has been made then they it would be open to them to challenge
the decision through the courts.

Finally, I know that you are currently overseeing the Home AVairs Select Committee’s report on DNA
retention and that this issue will be a key part of your considerations. I would of course place on record in
the Commons that this amendment is in direct response to your helpful inquiry. Furthermore, if your
Committee were to recommend it in its report, I would consider stating on the floor of the House that the
DNA Strategy Board would publish regular, force-level, statistics on the operation of the Early Deletion
Procedure, including the number of applications made and how often Chief Constables did not follow the
statutory guidance.

This would ensure that any future discrepancies were clearly identified and the relevant Chief Constable
could be held to account by their police authority and the wider community.

I hope that you consider that these amendments deliver on your helpful suggestion and that you can
support them at Report stage of the Bill. I look forward to your response.

February 2010
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